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Kids Under Cover has been working hard for almost 30 years to prevent
youth homelessness. We support vulnerable and disadvantaged young
people between the ages of 12 and 25 years who are either already
homeless or at risk of homelessness.
We are the only not-for-profit organisation in Australia delivering the unique combination
of studio accommodation (placed in backyards) and education scholarships as a practical
and proven strategy in preventing youth homelessness. It is Kids Under Cover’s mission
to provide young people at risk of homelessness the foundations to strengthen their
connection to family, community, and education and make a lasting difference in their lives.

what we do
Our early intervention and prevention model has been successfully shown to interrupt the spiral
of homelessness and is a far more effective strategy both economically and socially in ending the
homelessness crisis.
Kids Under Cover’s early intervention model is delivered in two parts:
• The Studio Program is at the heart of Kids Under Cover’s work. One- or two-bedroom studios (with bathroom) are built
in the backyard of a family or carer’s home, providing secure and stable accommodation for young people at risk of
homelessness.

Photography: Special thanks to Megagraphics
Photography for front cover image and
generous support throughout the year.
Thanks to Capture Point Media for photography
supplied at events and for Nestd.
design: grin creative.
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• Complementing the Studio Program, scholarships are awarded to assist with the financial costs associated with
education or training, to keep young people (aged 15-25 years) engaged with education and connected to the community.

OUR VISION

OUR mission

OUR Values

Where no young person
in our community
is homeless.

Providing young people at
risk of homelessness the
foundations to strengthen their
connection to family, community
and education and make a
lasting difference in their lives.

• Empathy
• Collaboration
• Resilience
• Engagement
• Integrity
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2018 FINANCIAL YEAR Impact

139

4,111

Cars
donated

SCHOLARSHIPS
AWARDED TO
YOUNG PEOPLE
FOR EDUCATION
OR TRAINING
*Includes two Ken & Lenka Morgan scholarships

504

Studios
on the ground
30 June 2018
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Message from
the Chair
I am delighted to share with you the 2018 Kids Under Cover Annual Report.
For almost 30 years the team at Kids Under Cover has been working hard to prevent
young people from becoming the face of homelessness. The last 12 months have
been no exception.
As I look back on my first year as Chairman of the Board, I’m reminded of what
an exciting time it has been – with great progress achieved on several projects.
The launch of our social enterprise Nestd in March certainly created a great deal
of buzz in the ‘tiny home’ market and kick started our pursuit for greater financial
diversification as we work toward strengthening our financial sustainability.

It’s an extraordinary privilege to represent the Board as Chairman. I would like to
acknowledge and thank my fellow directors for their passion and commitment to
achieving our vision – where no young person in our community is homeless – and for
the faith they have placed in me. I am honoured to work alongside such an inspiring,
dedicated and enthusiastic Board of Directors.
To Jo and the team at Kids Under Cover, who work tirelessly every day to ensure
we can continue to deliver our programs for at-risk young people, I thank you for
your enthusiasm, dedication and hard work. You are an inspiration.

I am pleased to report – with your help – we were able to build 55 studios, supporting
78 additional at-risk young people.
I’m proud to say we had 504 studios – providing accommodation for more than
720 young people, enabling them to remain connected to their family, community
and education.
In addition, to provide greater support for vulnerable young people, the development
and subsequent launch of the Short Stays Studio Program has been the focus of
our program expansion during the past 12 months. The pilot program will continue
throughout this next financial year as we look at the possibility to expand into other
geographical areas.
We can only undertake this critical work with the support of the Victorian State
Government, our corporate and philanthropic partners and individual donors.
On behalf of all the young people and families we have been able to help, I extend
a heartfelt thank you to each and every one of you. You have made a real difference,
from volunteers, to building crews, to partners, supporters and donors – and we
are truly humbled by your generosity and ongoing support.

4

Colin Radford

Reflecting on the achievements of the organisation for the past year I feel
an enormous amount of pride for all we have accomplished and excitement
for what is set to be a momentous time ahead.
This past year has been challenging and rewarding as we focussed on building our
long-term sustainability.
Our 2016-18 strategic plan came to fruition with several projects realised during the year
which drove the organisation’s success on many levels.
Working closely with more than 50 Community Service Organisations we built 55 studios
during the year, making an enormous difference in the lives of another 78 young people,
their carers and family.
This means we are now providing accommodation support for over 720 young people
in more than 500 studios. Just over 10 years ago we had a portfolio of 156 studios.
Another significant achievement was the 180 scholarships awarded during the year –
the most awarded since the program’s inception, this included two Ken & Lenka Morgan
scholarship recipients. Keeping young people connected to education or training ensuring
improved long-term outcomes for employment and independent living is made possible
through our Scholarship Program. We could not have provided this level of financial relief
for young people and families without the tremendous funding support we received from
our philanthropic partners.
Throughout the year our programs team worked hard on improving processes and
evaluating our program frameworks to strengthen our service delivery.
The development of the Short Stays Studio Program and the Village 21 pilot projects are
leading the charge for our program expansion. Each pilot is an innovative re-purposing of
our successful Studio Program providing greater support to disadvantaged and vulnerable
young people whilst utilising our existing core relationships and supply chain.

We have been actively preventing youth homelessness since 1989, and yet continue
to struggle to find a place within mainstream funding. Greater investment in early
intervention strategies and long-term housing solutions like the Kids Under Cover
Studio Program should be an integral part of addressing the homelessness crisis.
Significantly, 2019 marks 30 years since our founder, Ken Morgan OAM was driven
to do more to support disadvantaged young people.
His vision, passion and determination to fill the gap in the support provided to homeless
young people all those years ago has made a life-changing difference for many thousands of
young people. We are all looking forward to celebrating the achievements of the organisation
and the many hundreds of people who have supported Ken’s vision along the way.

Introduction

Message from the CEO

I hope you enjoy reviewing the year that was 2018 in our annual report. The foundations of
our success and ability to continue to support some of our most vulnerable young people
is no secret, it is a whole team effort.
It is with sincere appreciation I thank and acknowledge the whole Kids Under Cover
team. Their enthusiasm and dedication to making a difference in the lives of young
people is inspirational. Each day I am motivated by their shared commitment towards
the prevention of youth homelessness. Thank you for believing in what we do.
I wish to also make mention of the Board who have provided effective governance, stability
and ongoing support over the past 12 months. I acknowledge and thank them for their
leadership and enthusiasm along with the generosity they show volunteering their time. It
is their hard work and belief in what we do that ensures we can achieve inspiring results.
And finally, to our Chairman Colin Radford, I congratulate you on your first year as
Chairman of the Kids Under Cover Board. I’m sure I speak for all the Directors when I say
Colin’s firm commitment to his position as Chairman has given us great comfort in his
leadership thus far. With a genuine passion for making a difference to the lives of young
people, his dedication to the role has been remarkable and for that, on behalf of the Board
and the whole team, I thank him.
I look forward to the exciting times ahead as we strive for a community where no young
person is homeless.

Whilst our programs team focussed on delivering greater support our fundraising
team were focussed on building stronger income streams. Donate Your Car® continues
to deliver sound returns while donations from individuals and our corporate and
philanthropic partners grew considerably – making up 67% of our total revenue.
Behind the scenes, we have been working hard to ensure we can support more young
people. In January 2018 the Board and Senior Management Team continued to work toward
strengthening our financial position. Developing a robust strategic plan which, through
greater financial diversification will enable us to grow our impact across the next three years.
As each year goes by I continue to be overwhelmed by the support we receive from our
generous donors, partners and of course the Victorian State Government. Similarly, the
growing need for our services in the community does, at times become overwhelming.

Jo Swift
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Treasurer’s Report
A key strategic focus has been to diversify the income stream for Kids
Under Cover, so it is pleasing to report that during the 2017/18 year, the
proportion of revenue sourced from Government funding represented
27% while donations from individuals, corporate and trust and foundation
partners grew from 55% to 67% of total revenue. In dollar terms, this
is an increase of just under $1 million ($4.4 million to $5.4 million)
– an outstanding result.

We maintain a healthy level of cash on hand, reduced from FY17, but offset by the
appointment of Koda Capital to manage an investment portfolio of approximately
$2.5 million. Maintaining a reasonable level of total funds and reserves is a
conservative measure to ensure sufficient cash reserves for the ongoing
maintenance and care of our studios.

Total revenue was slightly down from the prior year, due to a large individual bequest
received in the prior year, however our revenue remains robust at just under $8 million,
with $5.86 million from non-government sources.

Our financial strategy continues to focus on securing and further diversifying our
revenue streams to support growth of our existing programs, providing stability and
long-term viability.

Income from the Donate Your Car® program remains solid at $1.9 million, confirming
the on-going success of this initiative.

I would like to take the opportunity to thank Pitcher Partners, our auditors, who continue
to be generous in providing their time and expertise.

Management and the board have implemented our investment strategy to maximise
returns, whilst ensuring sufficient safeguards are in place to preserve the organisations
asset base.

During the 2017/18 year marketing and fundraising costs remained consistent with
the prior year, with a slight increase in management and administration costs, which
is in line with the increase in fundraising.
A small deficit for the year of $0.27 million was recorded, due in part to an increase in
Studio Program costs of $0.19 million. There was also $0.12 million incurred during the
year for the establishment costs of the Kids Under Cover social enterprise, Nestd.
It is anticipated that Nestd will generate a return to Kids Under Cover in the near future
with sales of compact homes. This is an exciting phase for Kids Under Cover which you
can read more about on page 31. This initiative further strengthens the strategic focus
of income diversification. Other expenses remain largely in line with previous years.
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Alison Tait
Treasurer

funding breakdown 2017/18

Diversifying our income

Where we invested 2017/18

$9M

1%

2%
3%

Introduction

financial snapshot
1%

$8M

13%
$7M

27%
$6M

$5M

32%

16%
$4M

55%
$3M

$2M

10%
6%

$1M

29%

5%

$0
FY12

FY13

FY14

FY15

FY16

FY17

FY18

government funding

government funding

studio program

Individual and community Donors

Individual and community Donors

scholarship program

Philanthropic trusts and foundations

Philanthropic trusts and foundations

donate your car®

corporate donors

corporate donors

General Marketing and Fundraising

Bequest

Bequest

administration

Investment income

Investment income

social enterprise

Events

Events
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our
our work
work
YOUTH
HOMELESSNESS
2016 Census data released in March 2018
revealed homelessness in Australia has risen
14% in the past five years. 116,000 Australians
are now experiencing homelessness. Shockingly,
two in every five-people are under the age of 25.
That’s 37% of the homeless population.
Surprisingly, the vast majority of homelessness is hidden.
Young people who sleep rough make up just 3% of the
homeless population, 9% reside in boarding houses,
18% in supported accommodation for the homeless.
And the rest? Where do they stay?
Of those counted as homeless on Census night 10%
are couchsurfing and 59% are residing in severely
overcrowded dwellings1.
The 2016 Census data revealed 44% of the homeless
population are living in severely crowded dwellings.
These people may not be sleeping rough, they may
not be ‘roof-less’ but they are no less homeless.
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The debilitating day-to-day realities of people who live in
severely overcrowded households are not often thought
about by those not experiencing such living conditions.
Mental health and the safety of occupants are all at risk,
as is the ability for them to meaningfully engage in; school,
work, job-hunting, relaxation and social activities.
Imagine, as a young person having no privacy, nowhere
to study or listen to your own music. And you can forget
about having friends over.
In the worst cases, overcrowding can exacerbate
conflict, depression, and the trauma of some harrowing
circumstances many young people are dealing with.
Chronic lack of sleep caused by dysfunctional living
arrangements leads to fatigue and stress affecting the
educational outcomes for young people.

Kids Under Cover’s pre-emptive work has delivered proven
prevention methods since 1989.

And eventually, they decide not to return to the family
home, spending nights couchsurfing, or worse, in crisis
accommodation or on the street. They have entered the
cycle of homelessness.

For 30 years we’ve been actively
preventing young people from becoming
the next visible face of homelessness.

OUR APPROACH TO TACKLING
YOUTH HOMELESSNESS

“We know our programs are directly
benefiting hundreds of young people, their
carers and families. Early intervention has
been successfully shown to interrupt the
spiral of homelessness and is an effective
strategy both economically and socially in
preventing homelessness.

The number of people living in crowded dwellings requiring
three extra bedrooms jumped 23% to 51,088 in 20161.

Many young people are forced out of home prematurely
because of an overcrowded living situation, often leading
to couchsurfing, which is dangerous and can lead to
increasingly risky scenarios.

ABS Census 2016 data

Our aim is to help relieve pressure points for young
people, keep them connected to family and the community,
encourage ongoing education or training, and maintain
social networks and ties to home.

Our Studio and Scholarship Programs are an integral part
in the fight against homelessness.

While there are many causes of youth homelessness,
in our work we find severe overcrowding is the most
common denominator.

1

We do this through our unique approach of supplying
relocatable studio accommodation and educational
scholarships. Our Studio and Scholarship Programs
support vulnerable and disadvantaged young people
between 12-25 years who are either already homeless
or at risk of homelessness.

With feelings of despair and hopelessness many young people
start to disengage from family. They stop going to school and
begin taking risks, often running away from home for long
periods of time. Many start participating in criminal activity.

It isn’t well known that severe overcrowding is a type
of homelessness. Nor is it well known that it’s mainly
families who are suffering from it.

Overcrowding creates a lack of space and privacy. Young
people living in severely overcrowded homes often have no
space to study, no privacy or stability. They have nowhere
to keep their possessions or a place of their own.

While there are many great organisations working in the
crisis accommodation space, we work in partnership with
Community Service Organisations (CSOs) to identify these
young people at risk and act early to prevent homelessness.

It is our belief that prevention and early intervention
are the key to tackling homelessness.

– Jo Swift, CEO, Kids Under Cover

Tonight over 720 young people are residing
in a Kids Under Cover studio. Young people,
who were previously at risk of homelessness.
Thanks to an army of people who share our
vision, those young people now have stable
and secure accommodation.
The Kids Under Cover Studio Program is leading the
way in innovative intervention and prevention strategies.
Our Studio Program is at the heart of our work.
Relocatable one- or two-bedroom (with bathroom)
studios are built in the backyard of a family or
carer’s home. The studio provides secure and
stable accommodation for young people at risk
of homelessness.

Each studio has a life-span of up to 20 years, they are
demountable and able to be relocated up to four times.

WHAT WE AIMED TO ACHIEVE
IN THE 2018 FINANCIAL YEAR

With over 500 studios currently on the ground (predominantly
in Victoria) since 1989 we have been able to support more
than 3,000 vulnerable and disadvantaged young people.

• To secure enough funding to build 56 studios to
accommodate young people at risk of homelessness

For families on the brink of breakdown, and young people
at-risk of homelessness, a Kids Under Cover studio can
be life-changing.
A studio not only provides space for the whole family, it
gives young people a sense of hope. It gives them a place.
A sense of belonging and in many cases, a chance at a
bright future.

our work

THE KIDS UNDER COVER STUDIO PROGRAM

• Streamline our processes and increase our capacity to
support more at risk young people and their families
• Further develop and review our studio audit and
maintenance program
• Progress and refine our Asset Management Strategy

Our studios support not only young people at risk of
homelessness but families at risk of breakdown, kinship
care and foster carers seeking additional space to
accommodate young people.
Facilitating semi-independent living, Kids Under Cover
studios provide space for the young person to study and
a place to call their own. Once the studio is no longer
required, it can be relocated to accommodate another
young person in need.
Studios can be constructed and fully fitted within 10 days
thanks to the flat-packed, pre-assembled frames and a
dedicated build team from Harris HMC.
To assist with sustainability the studios are made of
Durra Panel, an environmentally friendly product made
from straw without additional chemical binders. Each
studio has a 6 Star energy efficiency rating and they
are connected to power and water from the main home.
Consideration of the orientation of the studio on site,
along with improved ventilation, a sealed subfloor,
shading if necessary, double glazing and additional
insulation all contribute to the 6 Star rating.

Two-bedroom studio

9

how did we do?
During the 2018 financial year we built 55 studios.
A mix of new and relocated one-and-two-bedroom.
Another 78-young people now have stable and secure
accommodation. They now have a place.
Just one studio shy of our target of 56, the 56th studio
was rolled over to the 2019 financial year.
Of the 55 studios, 18 were relocated from previous sites,
the remaining 37 were new structures.
32 one-bedroom and 23 two-bedroom with bathroom
studios were constructed during the year.
Due to their age, condition or no longer being needed,
19 studios were retired during the 2018 financial year.
To streamline processes, improve relations between
ourselves and our studio build team, along with our clients;
young people and their families – we made the decision
to increase our attendance at studio handovers. This
means we now have a presence at almost all studios upon
completion to handover the keys along with important
information about the studio and our Scholarship Program.
We worked closely with Harris HMC and welcomed a
dedicated new project manager to the build team who
oversaw the studio build process contributing positively
to the program holistically.
Studio maintenance is imperative to ensuring maximum
longevity of the building and guarantee the studio occupant
is residing in safe and comfortable accommodation.
During the 2018 financial year we reviewed our existing
maintenance structure and process. After careful
consideration the Board moved to bring the maintenance
of our studios in-house. Implementation of this new
strategy began in February 2018. Upon the conclusion
of the financial year we appointed a Kids Under Cover
maintenance technician.
Throughout the year we continued to work on our
asset management.
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Our friends at Macutex have continued to support our work,
on a pro-bono basis, developing a studio mapping tool for our
team to use internally. This has aided the programs team in

identifying locations of studios quickly and easily, displaying
studio data accurately and effectively. This mapping tool will
also greatly assist with the scheduling of maintenance.

septic tank installations, leading to longer build times (due
to the time-consuming nature of approvals and install) and
the need for additional funding for affected sites.

Equally as important, the mapping tool enables the
scholarship team to identify trends in scholarship
recipients simplifying this process for the team.

55

We also had the pleasure of working with James Kennedy,
Director at Interlogis Consulting, who provided our
studio team with his professional advice on our current
asset management strategy and maintenance planning.
James also gave the team valuable insight into what our
framework could look like moving forward.

Studios
built

James provided his expert service pro-bono to the team,
leading them through best practice guidelines which gave
us tremendous foresight – shaping the planning of our
studio auditing and maintenance scheduling.

78

During the 2018 financial year our Studio Program
team tackled some challenging situations. Bushfire
Management Overlays (BMO) proved tricky when building
studios in areas of Victoria which are affected by the
BMO. Additional consideration needed to be given to a
range of bushfire issues such as siting of the building,
providing defendable space, on-site water availability
and emergency vehicle access.

studio locations

We were delighted to receive the support of South East
Water who worked with us to determine the measures
we needed to implement.
South East Water not only provided advice and guidance
in the area they also very generously donated 10x 5,000L
water tanks and pumps for us to install in affected studio
locations. This support was invaluable in enabling us
to complete studio builds in affected areas and we are
extremely grateful to South East Water.
Another challenge faced by our team during the year was
that of septic tanks.
The need for the installation of a septic tank alongside a
new studio has become more prevalent in recent times.
Where an additional dwelling (the studio) is built in the
backyard it is imperative the existing septic tank is capable
of servicing both the house and the new dwelling. Tighter
council requirements have resulted in the need for more

NEW YOUNG PEOPLE
ACCOMMODATED
(44% female 56% male)

Metro 33%
Regional & Rural 67%
studios 2018
Live studios end of 2018 Financial Year
Studios built
Metropolitan studios
Regional & rural
One bed-room studios
Two bed-room studios
New studios
Relocated studios
Studios retired
% HASP
% At-risk
% Child Protection

504
55
18
37
32
23
37
18
19
47%
38%
15%

classification
HASP (47.27%): Housing & Support
Program – supporting young people
who are currently homeless or at risk
of homelessness
At-Risk (38.18%): Young people currently
in or at risk of placement in out-of-home
care or homelessness
Child Protection (14.54%): Young people
whose parents are either unable or
unwilling to care for them

STUDIO TYPE

CLASSIFICATION

COMMUNITY SERVICES ORGANISATION

BAIRNSDALE
BROWN HILL
WODONGA
BALLARAT NORTH
MORWELL
SEYMOUR
UPPER GUNDOWRING
SUNSHINE WEST
SEYMOUR
SEYMOUR
COOLAROO
LITTLE RIVER
WERRIBEE
MILDURA
RESERVOIR
HAMPTON
KNOXFIELD
WANGARATTA
HILLSIDE
WARNEET
YEA
SHEPPARTON
THOMSON
AVOCA
SHEPPARTON
SEABROOK
NORLANE
CORIO
WHITTINGTON
LACEBY
WEST WODONGA
BELLFIELD
HERNE HILL
CORIO
DELACOMBE
KYNETON
GISBORNE
BORONIA
MEADOW HEIGHTS
BOX HILL SOUTH
STRATHDALE
WEST WODONGA
CANADIAN
WANGARATTA
WEST WODONGA
LANGWARRIN
NOBLE PARK
LEOPOLD
MOOROOPNA
MOAMA
WESTMEADOWS
MAFFRA
COBDEN
DANDENONG NORTH
KURUNJANG

1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
1 bedroom – relocated
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom
2 bedroom – relocated
2 bedroom – relocated
2 bedroom – relocated
2 bedroom – relocated
2 bedroom – relocated

HASP
HASP
Child Protection
HASP
At Risk
At Risk
At Risk
At Risk
At Risk
At Risk
HASP
Child Protection
HASP
HASP
Child Protection
HASP
HASP
At Risk
HASP
HASP
At Risk
At Risk
HASP
HASP
At Risk
At Risk
At Risk
Child Protection
HASP
At Risk
HASP
HASP
At Risk
HASP
At Risk
HASP
HASP
Child Protection
HASP
At Risk
At Risk
HASP
Child Protection
HASP
HASP
HASP
At Risk
At Risk
At Risk
Child Protection
HASP
At Risk
At Risk
Child Protection
HASP

Gippsland Lakes Community Health
Berry Street – Grampians
DHS – Wodonga Office, Ovens Murray Area, East Division
Berry Street – Grampians
Victorian Aboriginal Childcare Agency
Beyond Housing
Anglicare Victoria
Melbourne Citymission Western Region
Beyond Housing
Beyond Housing
Kildonan Uniting Care
Anglicare – Yarraville
Melbourne Citymission Western Region
Mallee Family Care (Carer Resource Centre)
Jesuit Social Services
Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency
EACH Social and Community Health
Upper Murray Family Care
Melbourne City Mission
Moira Disability & Youth Services
Rural Housing Network – Shepparton
Rural Housing Network – Shepparton
Bethany Community Support
Anglicare Victoria – Bendigo
Rural Housing Network – Shepparton
Anglicare Werribee Area Office
Bethany Community Support
Bethany Community Support
Bethany Kinship Care Service
Upper Murray Family Care
Beyond Housing
Merri Outreach Support Service
Bethany Community Support
Bethany Kinship Care Service
Centacare Ballarat
Cobaw Community Health Service
Cobaw Community Health Service
Anchor Inc.
Department of Justice & Regulation
Anglicare – Box Hill
Anglicare Victoria – Bendigo
Beyond Housing
CAFS Ballarat
Rural Housing Network Ltd
Beyond Housing
Melbourne City Mission Detour Program
Mirabel Foundation Inc
Department of Heath & Human Services – Barwon Region
Beyond Housing
St Luke's Anglicare
Launch Housing
Uniting – Gippsland
Brophy Family and Youth Services
Department of Heath & Human Services Child Protection
MacKillop Family Services

our work

1 July 2017 to
30 June 2018
Completed
Studios

SUBURB
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EVALUATING the IMPACT of a studio
To effectively measure the impact of our Studio
Program we undertake an annual evaluation.
Working closely with research company, DBM
Consultants, interviews were conducted with 120
carers of the young people who were residing
in a studio during the 2018 financial year.

The introduction of a studio saw a decline in the
perception of severely/very overcrowded houses of 72%.

These interviews have provided us with a greater
understanding of the positive changes experienced in
family life since the installation of the studio and shown
us our work extends well beyond providing stable and
secure accommodation.

Creating a positive difference

After speaking with these carers, it became evident the
greatest impact is on the improved well-being of the
young person and family after the studio was installed.
The mood of the young person, perceptions of crowding,
educational achievement and optimism for the future
were all also positively impacted.
how overcrowded is the house
Severely overcrowded

44%
3%
45%

Very overcrowded

13%
10%

A little overcrowded
Not overcrowded at all
Before the studio
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The installation of the studio has a significantly positive
impact on a family’s ability to get along. Reports of families
getting on ‘very badly’ are negligible and conflict has reduced.
93% of carers reported the family was getting along ‘quite
or very well’ after the arrival of the studio compared with
just 41% prior to the studio being built.
“It gave us all peace and quiet and made us a family
again. It stopped all the fights and brought us back
together. You wouldn’t think a little building would
do that, but it did.”
Before the installation of the studio, just 8% of families
were getting on ‘very well’ – 68% of respondents stated
there had been ‘daily or almost daily’ conflict before the
installation of the studio.

1%
48%
After the studio

Before the installation of the studio nearly nine in ten
households were deemed overcrowded – nearly half
(44%) severely.

The family doesn’t
get on too well

18%
1%
41%
7%

The family gets
on quite well
The family all
gets on very well
Before the studio

33%
48%
8%
44%
After the studio

“I was really concerned for their safety, but now I can
breathe. I don’t have to constantly be on edge waiting
for the argument or someone to get upset.”

Strengthening a young person’s
connection to family and community
Spending long periods of time away from home,
disappearing without notice can be an early sign
of a young person being at risk of homelessness.

The recent evaluation found after the installation of
a studio young people were less likely to spend time
away from home.
Before the studio was built, 20% of young people
were away from the property ‘a lot’, without the
carer knowing where they were.
Since the studio, just 6% of young people were spending
‘a lot’ or a ‘fair amount’ of time away from the property
compared with 33% prior to the studio.
“It’s allowed us all to reconnect again. It’s allowed
us to get back to where we used to be as a family
before it all happened. We are closer now than we
used to be.”

How would you rate the family’s ability to
get along together?
The family gets
on very badly

35%

Reduced crowding in family homes

Reduced crowding/improved personal space doesn’t
just free up space; carers reported a reduction in conflict
within the home which also contributes positively to the
mood of young people and general harmony in the home.

After the installation of the studio, ‘frequent or occasional’
incidence of conflict within the home had reduced by 55%.
33% of carers reported there was ‘never’ any conflict at
all compared with just 8% before the studio.

Connection to education

During the evaluation carers were also asked about the
young person’s level of attendance at school, TAFE or
University to determine the effect the studio has had
on the educational outcomes of young people.
Educational outcomes and attendance at school can
improve dramatically once a studio is installed. Improved
living conditions also had a dramatic effect on reported
school attendance.

“It’s easy for her to study when she is out there and
that helped because she got through Year 12 with flying
colours and got into Uni and is excelling.”
Along with attendance increasing, education performance
has also improved.

absenteeism LEVEL

17%
DECLINE IN PROPORTION
NOT GOING OR RARELY
MEETING THE REQUIRED
LEVEL OF ATTENDANCE
DROPPED FROM 17% TO
4% AFTER THE STUDIO.

Risk-taking behaviour is a contributing factor in families
seeking the support of a Kids Under Cover studio.
Displaying significant risk-taking behaviours such as drug
taking, and alcohol use or risky online activity can often
lead a young person down a dangerous path.
Following the installation of the studio, just 3% of young
people were reported to engage in risky behaviour ‘often’,
compared with 11% prior to the studio. The introduction
of the studio resulted in a 17% decrease in the incidence
of ‘frequent/occasional’ risk-taking behaviours engaged
in by young people.
The proportion of young people ‘never participating’ in risky
behaviour rose from 47% to 73% once a studio was installed.
“She has excelled since she has had her own room;
achieving as a young woman as opposed to being out
on the streets where I had to get the police involved. No
more risk-taking or drugs, no more violence. She has
settled right down since the room.”

An optimistic future

4%

Building independence and reducing
risk-talking behaviour

A Kids Under Cover studio also facilitates semiindependent living, preparing young people for adult life.

“(It’s taught him) responsibility. Life skills. There is a
bathroom and so he has to look after that. Personal
hygiene. The ability to have some friends over and
socialise more. He has his own time to grow. His
interactions have improved. There have been a lot
of benefits (to the studio).”

The installation of a studio can also have a tremendous
effect on the mood and demeanour of young people.
The proportion of young people described as ‘never
happy’ has declined from 34% to just 1% since the
installation of the studio.
Young people displayed a more positive outlook on life
and an increase in general mood. Prior to the studio being
installed just 6% were feeling happy ‘always or nearly
always’ compared to 43% after the studio.

In turn, pessimism declined with only 3% of carers feeling
‘very pessimistic’ about the young person’s future now,
compared to 18% previously.

our work

The proportion of young people meeting required level of
attendance increased from 53% before the studio to 83%
post studio installation.

Improved living conditions can have an enormously
positive effect on the potential of the young person.
Having space enables the studio occupant to reflect and
establish goals for the future. Not only are the young
people performing better at school, they are also able to
focus on themselves and their personal growth. Carers
reported the studio has enabled some to overcome
mental health issues and focus on a positive future.
“It (the studio) has been a life saver, mental health wise.
It was so dreadful before, it was unbearable, we could
not have gone on. It has meant he has been able to stay
at home and have a roof over his head. I know where he
is and how he is. I can observe him now and know he is
cared for.”
Determining the outcomes achieved through our Studio
Program is extremely important in understanding our
impact. These results show us the very real difference
additional space has made, not only for the young people,
but the whole family.
And, self-assessment such as the studio evaluation
assists us in shaping our processes and programs to
better support at-risk young people and their families.

We are extremely grateful for the
ongoing support we receive from
the entire team at DBM Consultants
and acknowledge their generosity
with thanks.

”He thinks about what he wants to do now. He wants to get
a job, he wants to study, he wants to save, wants to get a
property, he talks about normal things like getting a car.”
54% of carers were ‘very optimistic’ about the young
person’s future compared with just 13% prior to the
installation of the studio.

13

Scholarship Program
The Australian Scholarships Group Planning for
Education Index estimates parents and carers
nationally are likely to spend around $66,320 on
a government education per student from prep
to Year 12. As more families feel the strain of
soaring education costs, rising house prices and
an increased cost of living, many young people
may be forced to leave school or education early.
Established in 2004 to build on the support we can
offer young people and their families our Scholarship
Program has awarded more than 900 scholarships
to young people living in a Kids Under Cover studio
or residing in the main home.
It’s no secret that education has the power to change
your life. That’s why we believe in the importance
of keeping young people connected, giving them the
knowledge and skills required to build a brighter future.
Education is critical to reducing poverty and inequality
and at an individual level, can have a significant positive
impact on a young person’s confidence, self-esteem and
employment prospects.

This early intervention approach gives families some
financial relief and young people support to stay in school.
In many cases this support can prevent the social exclusion
that can haunt young people who miss out on activities due
to lack of funds.
A Kids Under Cover scholarship is not a cash award based
on an applicant’s academic excellence; its purpose is
to provide financial assistance to offset the most basic
of requirements to support a young person’s continued
engagement with education; funds to pay for resources,
technology, uniforms, tutoring, tools of trade for apprentices,
even public transport to travel to and from school.

WHAT WE AIMED TO ACHIEVE
IN THE 2018 FINANCIAL YEAR
• Award and efficiently administer the
Kids Under Cover scholarships
• Increase the number of young people taking
up a Kids Under Cover scholarship to 150

The landscape of employment opportunities for early school
leavers has changed dramatically over the years, leading to
the highest rates of underemployment of young people seen
in 40 years1. Nearly half of all 20- to 24-year-olds working
part time are underemployed compared to only around 30%
for those part-time workers aged 35 – 542.

• Award and efficiently administer
The Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship

Keeping young people engaged in education or training
might just make the difference for young people seeking
full-time employment later in life.

During the 2018 financial year we awarded 178 young
people a Kids Under Cover scholarship. This is an
increase of 14% on the previous year and 19% more
than our target of 150.

KIDS UNDER COVER SCHOLARSHIPS
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continue with their schooling, TAFE, university
or undertake job training in an accredited course.

The Kids Under Cover Scholarship Program helps
young people who have the passion and motivation to
continue education, but don’t have the resources. These
scholarships are helping young people aged 15 -25 years
1
2

• Efficiently administer the Department of Health
and Human Services Student Scholarship Program

HOW DID WE DO?

The average age of those who received a scholarship
was 17.75 years.
181 applications were submitted for the entire financial
year of which 178 met the criteria for approval and were

Generation Stalled: young underemployed and living precariously in Australia, Brotherhood of St Laurence, March 2017
The Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey

awarded scholarships. Thanks to the financial support
of our philanthropic partners and individual donors we
could award 159 full year scholarships – the most in any
single round in the history of the program. The mid-year
scholarship round opened in April 2018, for which 19
scholarships were awarded.
Of the 159 full year scholarship recipients, 52% lived
in a studio as opposed to the main home, 27% lived
more than 20km from their place of study and 52%
lived in non-Metropolitan areas. Caring arrangements
were diverse with 39% of recipients in single parent
families, 13% in kinship care and 6% in foster or
temporary arrangements.
63% of scholarships were for secondary school studies
and 53% of recipients had previously received a Kids
Under Cover scholarship.
Diversity was well reflected in the full year and mid-year
recipient cohort. Young women represented 57% of the
recipients, 21 recipients were Indigenous, six were from
refugee/asylum seeker backgrounds and 26 were from
non-English speaking backgrounds.
This past financial year has seen our relationships with
the young people we support along with their carers
strengthened due to continued improvement of processes
and consistent communication.
In an effort to connect with and build on those relationships
our Scholarship Program team developed oversized,
colourful postcards to send out to get the message
out about the scholarships available. The results were
overwhelmingly positive, with many carers saying they
thought the postcard really stood out when collecting their
mail, some even having a chuckle at the novelty design.
We continued to utilise text message and email
communications to all carers of eligible young people,
advising of scholarship application open dates, encouraging
them to apply online. Reminders were also sent prior to
the closing dates to ensure as many young people had
the opportunity to apply for a scholarship as possible.
Because of this, combined with existing promotional
strategies, a record number of full year scholarships
were awarded (159).

The scholarships awarded were utilised in many different
ways; 55% used funds for uniform and stationery, 38%
purchased text books and 28% were able to purchase
a computer or other IT equipment.
38% of applicants are enrolled in post-secondary studies
including a Masters in Juris Doctor, a double degree in
Criminology and Psychology and many others studying
a wide range of undergraduate degrees.

Scholarship recipients
Scholarships awarded
Average scholarship value $
Male
Female
Metro
Rural
Regional
Indigenous
Refugee background
Non-English speaking background
Disability/Mental health
Secondary school
Training/TAFE
University

178
982
76
102
89
41
48
21
6
26
67
110
41
27

Scholarships benefiting
the whole family
The capacity to see a bright future can diminish if a young
person can see no point in going to school because they
can’t afford the necessities, or their grades are suffering
– the easy choice can be to give up.
From our annual studio evaluation, we have learnt the Kids
Under Cover Scholarship Program is relieving some of the
financial stress placed on families – assisting with the ability
to pay costs associated with learning.

How much better/ worse off since the studio?
Ability to purchase
necessary school or
course requirements
Financial stress

68%

our work

Of the 178 scholarship recipients we provided financial
support for 67 young people with disabilities or mental
health issues enabling them to purchase specialised
equipment needed.

23%
5%

50%

38%
10%

Much better

A little better

The same

Worse

50% of carers reported their financial stress was ‘much
better’ having received the support of a scholarship and 68%
said their ability to purchase necessary school or course
requirements was ‘much better’.

THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH
AND HUMAN SERVICES STUDENT
SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM
During 2017/18 we effectively administered 230 Department
of Health and Human Services (DHHS) scholarships.
Since 2010, Kids Under Cover has proudly administered the
DHHS Student Scholarship Program on a year-to year basis.
Early in 2018 we were thrilled to secure a three-year
funding partnership with DHHS valued at $354,420 per
annum. This will enable us to award 290 DHHS scholarships
per year, for three years, to young people living in public or
community housing or those at risk of homelessness.
This program helps young people stay engaged with
education and complete years 11 and 12 at secondary
school or a technical and further education provider (TAFE).

THE KEN & LENKA MORGAN SCHOLARSHIP
The Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship was introduced in
2013 to offer a one-off scholarship to the value of $5,000
to one exceptional young person who is supported by the
Studio Program.
This scholarship holds a very special place in our hearts
having been named in honour of our founder, Ken Morgan
OAM and his wife Lenka.
The scholarship recipient will have demonstrated,
through the application process, clear personal aspiration
and drive to succeed, with ability to achieve in their
chosen personal pathway.
In the 2018 financial year The Ken & Lenka Morgan
Scholarship saw a double celebration. For the first time
in the scholarship’s history joint winners were announced
at a special celebration event in November 2017.
Bruno is a young man with a plan to change the world as
a bio-medical nanotechnician. Tahilia is a young woman
with a mission to be the best youth worker she can be
and an advocate for Indigenous children.
Delighted to meet these inspiring young people, Lenka
Morgan was on hand to congratulate Bruno and Tahilia.
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Increasing Support at Crisis End
A little idea hatches into a big plan to address the
significant shortage of safe and inclusive crisis and
respite accommodation for young people in Victoria.
An estimated 9,742 young people were counted as
homeless in Victoria on Census night 2016. That equates
to 39% of all Victorians experiencing homelessness. The
rates of homelessness in Victoria are showing no signs
of slowing down.
Approximately 66% of young people are turned away
when seeking crisis accommodation in metropolitan
Melbourne. As a result, these vulnerable young people are
forced to stay in unsafe and inappropriate environments
such as overcrowded rooming houses, motels and
backpacker hostels.
Roughly 35% of those leaving care will likely experience
homelessness in the first 12 months. There is currently

a significant shortage of safe emergency/short-term
accommodation in Victoria.
After identifying a gap in the support being offered to
young people in long-term Out-of-home care (OOHC)
the Short Stays Studio Program (SSSP) idea became
a reality during the 2018 financial year.
Developing such a program, identifying and investigating
the viability and risks involved meant we needed a
partner to execute a pilot.
Ballarat is facing a shortage of short-term accommodation
options for OOHC clients and young people experiencing
homelessness. There are an estimated 400 homeless
people of all ages in Ballarat. Over 100 of those are aged
under 18. On any given night there are around 130 young
people placed in OOHC, clearly demonstrating a need for
such a program in the area.
Working with Child and Family Services Ballarat (CAFS)
through our Studio Program since 2005, together we have
implemented the pilot program. CAFS have been providing
service for young people and families in Ballarat for over
150 years. They know the area and the challenges young
people are facing.
With the support of our generous funders, the hard work
of our Studio Program team, our builders Harris HMC and
of course CAFS, two one-bedroom studios will be used for
this pilot.

Inside the pilot studio with foster carer
Maria, Allan Joy CEO CAFS Ballarat and
Jo Swift, CEO, Kids Under Cover
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Maria and Paul outside
the one-bedroom studio

The program will provide at-risk young people (aged
14–18 years) with short-term crisis accommodation with
a family in a safe, supportive and nurturing environment.
A young person would stay in the studio in the backyard
of an accredited carer during times of crisis. This will give
their caseworker time to establish long-term care or in
some instances give the young person an opportunity to
reunite with their family.
Placements would range from a one-night stay to up
to six months, though each case will be unique in its

duration depending on the needs of the young person.
During the placement, the caseworker would continue
to support the young person.
The pilot program is now in full swing. In August 2018
long-time foster carers Maria and Paul welcomed the
first young person into a studio as part of the program,
a15-year-old girl who contacted CAFS seeking emergency
accommodation. The young person will stay in the studio
while CAFS work towards arranging longer-term housing
and connect her to other support services. All going well,
we may look to expand the pilot into other geographical
areas to gain a greater understanding of the potential for
making a significant impact in this space.

THANK YOU

We are grateful to have received funding support during
the 2018 financial year from BB & A Miller Foundation,
Flora & Frank Leith Charitable Trust and The Shine On
Foundation to launch this pilot program.

ChanNel Nine Shines a Spotlight
on Youth Homelessness

But, not before some tough judging.
Joined by past studio recipients and sisters, Teagan and
Aliesha Newman, Jo was brought to tears when viewing
the completed studios.

our work

The New Kids on The Block

Jo had the opportunity to meet all the contestants and
thank them for the hard work and thoughtfulness each
put in to delivering stylish, comfortable and tranquil
spaces for young people at risk of homelessness.

There’s not just one winner here
tonight” Jo told the Blockheads. “You guys
have changed the lives of five at-risk young
people, which makes you all winners.
Teagan and Aliesha know only too well the difference a
studio can make and how the quality of that space is just
as important as the space itself.
Each of the teams was given a client profile for the young
person receiving the studio, which formed the basis of their
design decisions and some very specific special purchases.
These also provided a guide for Teagan and Aliesha when
critiquing the spaces.

Challenge winners Kerrie and Spence with
Aliesha and Teagan, Shelley Craft and Jo Swift.

Contestants on the popular TV show The Block
had their work cut out for them in Bendigo,
back in March 2018, as they faced a Kids Under
Cover Studio Challenge.
With only eight hours to complete the challenge, the
Blockheads were tasked with transforming a one-bedroom
studio, furnishing and decorating it to suit a young person
at risk of homelessness.
The five teams were forced to leave The Gatwick when it
was shut down during the renovation of their own master
ensuites. Unbeknown to them they were headed towards
their second challenge for this year’s season.

Meeting our very own CEO, Jo Swift at the Bendigo
Showgrounds the contestants gained an insight into
the work we do in youth homelessness prevention and
each team was allocated a studio to renovate.
A project long on our wish list and months in the making
came to fruition over those two days in Bendigo. Aligning
what we do with a reality show focussed on renovation was
a dream come true but one with such a significantly high
profile nationally was hard to believe. Featuring in week
three of the popular show meant our work would feature
in almost one million homes around the country. Money
can’t buy that kind of exposure and we are eternally
grateful to Channel Nine for their belief in our programs.

South Australian couple Kerrie and Spence were crowned
the winners, having created a beautiful space for a 17-year
old girl in desperate need of some privacy and stability, her
own space to feel safe and belong.
And to complete the circle, Kerrie and Spence paid the
family a visit the day the studio was installed to see her
reaction in person.
A project of this magnitude doesn’t happen without the
support of a community who cares and shares our vision.
There are many people to thank. Firstly, to The Block and
all contestants, we thank you for raising awareness of our
work and the issue of youth homelessness.
We would also sincerely like to thank Gandel Philanthropy
who continue to share our vision of a community where no
young person is homeless. Gandel Philanthropy generously
funded four of the five studios used for the project.
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Our very own Studio Program team worked tirelessly to
match approved studio applicants with these five studios and
coordinate the complicated installations to finalise the project.
This was not a simple task considering each studio needed
to be craned into place after the challenge in Bendigo.
Harris HMC and the team at Ortech Industries also provided
an enormous amount of support leading up to the project and
on site in Bendigo. The team at Harris HMC also lent a hand to
ensure each studio was installed safely at its final destination.
And the collaboration didn’t end there.
Our friends from Sensum put us in contact with the Grove
Group to help us put the studios in place. The team at Grove
Group generously stored the five studios and donated their
time and services to install them. We couldn’t have done it
without you.
Support from organisations like these makes it possible
for us to provide studios for young people at risk of
homelessness. Everyone involved went above and beyond
to ensure this project was delivered without a hitch, and
for that we will be forever grateful.
All five studios are now supporting five at-risk young
people and their families. And they are already making
a significant difference.

KERRIE and SPENCE
DELIVER SOMETHING
EXTRA SPECIAL FOR
A YOUNG GIRL IN
DESPERATE NEED
OF HER OWN SPACE
The winning studio by Kerrie and Spence has
made a significant difference to the life of a
17-year-old girl who before the studio was
sleeping in the lounge room of her aunt and
uncle’s small three-bedroom house.
Being in the care of her aunt and uncle for the past 12
months was proving difficult, not only for the young person
but the whole family. Longing for a place to feel safe and
belong, she had been sleeping in the lounge room. This is
not ideal for anyone and long-term can have a negative
effect on a young person’s mental health, not to mention
the lack of privacy and disrupted sleep.
With no real space of her own, this young person was
feeling like a burden on her aunt’s family and was starting
to feel the effects of chronic lack of sleep caused by the
dysfunctional living arrangements. Disengaging from
school and with feelings of not belonging, this young girl
was beginning to think it would be better for everyone
if she just left, with nowhere to go.
The small house was already home to her two younger
male cousins, aunt and uncle and her arrival, while
welcomed by the family, placed additional pressures
on everyone.

The team from Grove Group and Harris
HMC expertly placing one of the studios
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Overcrowding creates a lack of space and privacy.
Young people living in severely overcrowded homes
often have no space to study, no privacy or stability.
Overcrowding is a major contributor to youth
homelessness. Many young people are forced out
of home prematurely because of an overcrowded
living situation, often leading to couch-surfing which
can trigger the beginning of years of homelessness.

Kerrie and Spence with
Jo Swift and studio recipient

Space creates a sense of stability, belonging and security. The
value in having your own space to grow and develop, heal
and believe in a brighter future can never be underestimated.
This young girl and her family were delighted to receive a
visit from Kerrie and Spence who dropped in to see their
winning studio craned into the backyard. Even the neighbours
popped around to see what all the fuss was about.
An emotional meeting made the hard work back in Bendigo
seem like a distant memory. Kerrie and Spence were
overjoyed to know this young girl would no longer be
sleeping on the lounge room floor!

The studio thoughtfully decorated by these sporting
champs is now occupied by a 16-year-old boy who
enjoys basketball and soccer and loves playing
computer games. But more importantly, this young
person now has his own SPACE to focus on his
studies and fulfil his dream of going to university.
Studying Year 11 VCE this young man was in serious
need of some privacy and space to study. Sharing the
house with his parents and two siblings was challenging.
There was nowhere for him to get away and he was in
desperate need of respite from his younger brother who
is low functioning autistic.
Their small home is chaotic at best. There was nowhere
for him to concentrate when trying to study and he had
long given up on inviting friends over. For this 16-year-old
leaving home with nowhere to go seemed like his only
option for some respite.
The environment within the home was also taking its toll
on the other members of the family. Relationships were
strained and mum and dad were constantly stressed and
anxious, worried the young person would eventually leave.

JESS and NORM’S STUDIO
REUNITES A FAMILY
Norm and Jess packed a punch with a
zombie inspired studio space complete
with LED lighting and brand new PS4 for
a young man in desperate need of his own
space to develop and grow in, with privacy
to heal from past trauma.

Not knowing what to do and with things spiralling out of
control inside the home, his parents were struggling to find
ways to convince the young man to stick it out. They hoped
things would get better but knew things could not continue
as they were as he would most likely decide to leave.

Once a young person enters Out-of-home care the risk
of eventual homelessness is increased and the risk of
disengagement from family and friends, community
and education is high. Where possible the preferred
option is to keep a young person connected to family.

The young man’s parents did not want to see their
family split up, nor the relationship between the
siblings deteriorate.

Moving back to the family home was not an option unless
he could be accommodated with his own room. To reunite
the young person with his family the additional space of a
Kids Under Cover studio was required.

For many young people once they start to disengage from
family, they stop going to school and begin taking greater
risks, often running away from home for long periods
of time and, in some instances participating in criminal
activity. Eventually they decide not to return to the family
home, spending nights couch-surfing – or worse, living
on the street – entering the cycle of homelessness.
Keeping this young person connected to the family was
paramount and since he received the stylishly decorated
studio relationships within the family home have
improved significantly.
The young man is now able to concentrate on his studies,
meaning he can now remain connected to education. His
dreams of going on to university no longer just dreams.
The studio is also providing him with the skills to live
independently whilst repairing his relationship with his
brother and his parents and he has started to build positive
friendships, inviting friends over to chill out in his studio.

Prior to the studio being delivered, the family of four were
living in a tiny three-bedroom home at different times
taking it in turn to sleep in a re-purposed lounge room. The
makeshift bedroom provided no privacy or stability for the
young person, who was dealing with the effects of multiple
traumas experienced in his short life. Often engaging in risk
taking behaviour, the young person’s social and emotional
responses to the overcrowding lead to violent outbursts
eventuating in stints away from the family home in the care
of the State.
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BIANCA AND CARLA’S
STUDIO PROVIDES
A MUCH-NEEDED
SANCTUARY

The Kids Under Cover studio fitted out by Norm and Jess
has enabled this young man to return to the family home,
providing the family with an enormous amount of relief.
Without the additional space created within the family
home by the provision of this studio the young person’s
future certainly looked bleak.
Homelessness is a dangerous, confronting and lonely
place to be. Young people don’t choose to be homeless.
They often feel like they don’t have a choice.
Many see their future starting to crumble. They feel
trapped, completely out of options, and they start leaving
home, spending nights couch surfing or worse, they find
themselves sleeping rough.
Since the installation of the studio this young man
has been reunited with his family and re-engaged with
education. He now has a dedicated space to study and
develop some independent living skills, whilst working
on improving his mental health.
In just a short time this studio has made a significant
difference, not just for the young person, but for the whole
family. The young man’s mum could not be happier.
“Having him home now means we can connect again as
a family. His mental stability is better, and I know where
he is, I don’t have to worry. Thank you, I can’t tell you how
much this has changed things.”
And, the video games and console were a HUGE HIT!
“I couldn’t believe it when they said all this was for him.
He has never had his own stuff like this, and he is now so
proud of his room. Thank you.”
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COURTNEY AND HANS
CREATE A BEAUTIFUL
SPACE TO SETTLE
For the young person who received Courtney and
Hans’ studio her life has changed significantly.
The 15-year-old ballet loving young girl was speechless
when she walked into her studio. And she could not believe
it was all hers! Courtney and Hans made this young girl’s
day by including a beautiful pair of ballet slippers and the
calming tranquil colours have made her feel at ease.
Before the arrival of the studio, four young people aged 5, 7,
11 and 15 were living in a three-bedroom home with their
mum – crowded, chaotic and bursting at the seams. Throw
in some harrowing circumstances and life in this small
home was anything but harmonious.
For this family transitional housing promised a far better
future than the one they had escaped from.

Forced to grow up much faster than most other teenagers,
this 15-year old has been faced with greater responsibilities
than many teenagers would dream of.
A dedicated student with dreams of a brighter future she
was accepted into an accelerated learning program at
school and is undertaking VCE units as part of her 2018
Year 10 studies. Given her past circumstances, this is an
achievement of which her mother is very proud.
The Kids Under Cover studio has given her space to study,
privacy and the ability to socialise with friends without
her siblings getting in the way. The studio has also meant
her younger brother who is embarking on adolescence
has now been given his own room, away from his two
younger sisters.
For this fragile family, this studio has given them space to
breathe and to heal together whilst remaining connected to
a community they have become a part of. Something they
had not experienced in the past.

Fleeing from family violence and entering the
homelessness system this family have been through
an incredible amount of trauma and uncertainty. This
overcrowded home was the only option available for them.

So, when they were told that there were no larger
properties available they decided stability was a much
better option than spending another four years on the
public housing waiting list.

These Blockheads worked hard to deliver the perfect studio for
this 16-year-old Melbourne Victory fan, and his family told us
he was brought to tears when he walked into it for the first time.

You have no idea, for him to know these
people care about him, he was blown away.
I can’t thank you enough. You have made
him so happy.

The eldest of the two boys in the family, this young person
has been particularly impacted leading to some anger
management issues resulting in violent outbursts.

The lack of space in such a tiny house for growing children
became a significant issue. Their lives had been characterised
by instability and witnessing violence. Having no space
to retreat to and little privacy did not contribute to an
environment conducive to recovery from trauma.
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The determination Hayden and Sara showed back
in Bendigo to deliver the very best studio they
could for the Kids Under Cover Challenge was
remarkable. They went to great lengths to ensure
the studio was filled with a variety things to
impress and make the young person feel at home.

One of four children, aged from 11 to 18, living with their
mum in a three-bedroom Office of Housing property this
young man has witnessed some horrific family violence in
the past few years. All family members are dealing with an
enormous amount of grief and trauma along with the recent
loss of several family members in a short period of time.

Spending the previous four years moving from house to
house with little notice had everyone living on edge and
gave the children no sense of belonging or stability.

The young girl who received the studio had previously been
sleeping in the smallest room in the house while her three
younger siblings shared a room, leading to a great deal
of distress, tension and conflict. She had no room for her
belongings or anything ‘nice’.

HAYDEN AND SARA’S
KIND-HEARTED
EFFORTS HELP HEAL
A TRAUMATIC PAST

Conflict within the family home was increasing, the siblings
were constantly arguing and for this young man life at
home was becoming intolerable. The overcrowding was
making life impossible. He had nowhere to escape to,
nowhere to study, no privacy or stability. For him taking
off with nowhere to go seemed like the only way out.
Inside the studio thoughtfully
decorated by Courtney and Hans

“I was so worried he would run away and not come
home. That he would get into trouble and well that
I would never see him again,” his mum told us.

Undercover Angel Award 2018
An Angel is often thought of as a person of
exemplary conduct or virtue. Someone who is “one
in a million”. In various religions and mythologies
an angel is generally a supernatural being.

Contestants Hayden and Sara with
guest judges Aliesha and Teagan

Things at home were spiralling out of control. Without more
space this family would be torn apart. The additional space
of this Kids Under Cover studio has meant the family can
work through their grief and loss together, and the young
person now has some space of his own to heal and grow.
“Now, in just a short amount of time, I have seen him
change. He is not so agro and he wants to be here, be part
of the family. Inside the house is different too, we all get
along much better and can actually talk about things.
I’m not feeling so stressed either.”
Quality of space is just as important as quantity of space
and in this instance the thought and generosity that went
into creating this space for such a troubled young man has
had a significantly positive impact on his overall well-being
and mental health.
Since the installation of the studio the family have been
receiving counselling together and the young person has been
referred to a youth program to support his return to school.
We would sincerely like to thank Gandel Philanthropy
who funded four of the five Block studios along with our
friends at Ortech Industries, Harris HMC, Sensum, The
Grove Group and Channel Nine.
In addition, we will be forever grateful for the hard work
put in by all of the contestants.
Thank you!

At Kids Under Cover we are surrounded by Angels. Every
day we continue to be overwhelmed by the generosity of
our kind-hearted supporters, our Angels.
Each year we recognise one special supporter, individual or
organisation, who has contributed significantly to our work
and helped make a difference.
The recipient of the Undercover Angel award shares our
vision of a community where no young person is homeless
and has demonstrated, over a significant period of time,
dedication to supporting our cause.

supporters, listening to their stories and learning about their
connection to Kids Under Cover.
Andrew has become a part of the very heart and soul of Kids
Under Cover. His commitment to supporting young people
by doing what he does best has been enjoyed by us all.
It was a delight for our CEO, Jo Swift to present the
Undercover Angel award to an unsuspecting Andrew,
in front of his family and many friends.
Jo and Andrew have worked together for all those 15 years,
developing a wonderful friendship along the way built on
a shared desire to make a lasting difference in the lives of
young people.

In November 2017, we recognised our very dear friend,
Mr Andrew Gill.
Over the past 15 years Andrew has become one of our own.
Introduced to our work through Ken Morgan many years
ago, his support has been a constant reminder of just how
much he cares.
For more than 15 years, Andrew has been the face of many
of our celebrations, as MC at supporter events, at the Cubby
House Challenge® auction and in the very early days as
host of the Pigdon Video Film Festival which began in 1998.
The Pigdon Video Film Festival really is where Andrew’s
involvement with Kids Under Cover was born.
During his successful career Andrew has represented
some of the biggest brands at the lectern, hosted many
high-profile events, bringing brands to life with his big
personality and infectious enthusiasm.
But to Kids Under Cover Andrew is more than a
professional MC he has become a friend.
Not only has he generously donated his professional
services to our events, Andrew has also been more than
generous with his time, getting to know many of our

Andrew Gill with Jo Swift
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A Look at the past three years
and our focus for the future
The 2018 financial year marked the end of a threeyear strategy which focussed on shoring up the
foundations of the organisation to ensure longevity
and diversification.
With a drive to increase funding to give confidence for
longer term decision making and strategies and a goal
to create positive client outcomes the three-year strategy
implemented in the 2016 financial year provided a robust
plan for success.

The next three years

Our long-standing partnership with the Victorian State
Government and CSO members enabled us to progress
two larger scale projects – the Short Stays Studio
Program and Village 21 – to deliver greater support
to at-risk young people.

To ensure our success it is important we continue to utilise
our key strengths to both innovate and grow our impact.

Redesigning and reconfiguring the studios formed the
base for creating positive client outcomes, alongside
an extended level of support for young people and
their families.

Relationships built with long-term trust and foundation
partners provided the opportunity for our new social
enterprise, Nestd to become a reality in the 2018
financial year.

Our programs team worked hard to deliver 187 studios
to support at-risk young people during the three-year
period. Reviewing processes and delivering innovative
services ensures young people remain at the forefront
of everything we do.

Being able to demonstrate our benefit and effectiveness
to funders played an important role in increasing our
funding streams. Redeveloping our website, increasing
brand awareness and revenue diversification contributed
to outstanding financial results across the three years.

Redesigning the studios to ensure maximum energy
efficiency to improve the young person’s living
environment, as well as minimising heating and cooling
costs was undertaken during the 2017 financial year. The
new 6-Star energy rated studios were rolled out in 2017.

The profile of the organisation was amplified thanks to
the new website, greater communication to supporters,
events and media exposure. Financially, across the
three-year period our income streams continued to
diversify. Government funding experienced small declines
– representing 36% of our funding in year one, 33% in year
two and 27% in the final year of the three-year plan.

Implementing new communication strategies to build
better relationships with our clients (young people and
their families), Community Service Organisations (CSOs)
and other key stakeholders strengthened our ability to
create greater positive outcomes.
Improved reporting, data and information management
processes and monitoring evaluation frameworks all
contributed to reaching our goal of focussing on what
we do best – building studio accommodation to prevent
youth homelessness.
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Achieving scale was also an important element of the plan.
Setting the organisation up for funding partnerships to offer
greater support and the exploration of a social enterprise
model set the scene for our wider field of activity.

Pleasingly, donations from individuals, corporate and trust
and foundation partners grew year on year, increasing
from 55% to 67% of total revenue in the three years.
At the end of the 2018 financial year we achieved the
outcomes set out within the three-year strategic plan,
enabling the organisation to head into the next three
years building on those strong foundations for
continued success.

Innovation for Growth is the focus for our new three-year
strategy, whilst our priority remains to build studios and
award scholarships.

To expand our unique Studio and Scholarship Programs it
is essential we work on achieving financial independence
and stability, continuing to diversify our revenue streams.
Our current Donate Your Car® program along with the
new social enterprise Nestd are now leading this charge,
along with the broadening of our funding through stronger
philanthropic and corporate partnerships.
Whilst our geographic focus will remain in Victoria in year
one, we will expand our unique offerings to further develop
additional support for young people.
The Short Stays Studio Program and Village 21 project will
be the focus of expansion whilst we continue to deliver our
Studio and Scholarship Programs business as usual.
In year one we will not actively seek expansion of our
programs outside of Victoria, but plan for this in year two
and possibly pursue interstate expansion in year three.
Our energy and resources are best focussed on improving
the cost-effectiveness of our programs while assuring the
quality of the studios and ongoing maintenance.
To achieve our strategic priorities building a strong
workforce is imperative. Maintaining a positive workplace
culture by recruiting and developing highly skilled and
motivated employees while recognising and acknowledging
their performance is essential.
Ensuring our team can perform at their best while feeling
supported and valued continues to be the secret to our success.

In the 2018 financial year we received a
grant from the Coca-Cola Australia Foundation
(CCAF) to fully-fund 22 scholarships for
young people.
The average value of the 22 scholarships awarded was
$1,136. These scholarships were awarded to 17 females
and 5 males across Victoria.
Thanks to the support of the CCAF, 22-young people were
able to continue their education and training knowing some
of the financial burden of their studies had been alleviated.
The scholarships enabled these young people to continue
on their chosen career path with feelings of relief.
One of those was Jake. At the time, Jake was 19 years old
and studying electrical engineering at Swinburne University.
Jake lives in a two-bedroom studio with his older brother.
Their studio was installed five years ago to assist with
overcrowding in the main home, which was proving to
be stressful for the brothers who were heading into their
VCE years.
Jake’s parents are long-time foster carers – to continue to
foster vulnerable and disadvantaged children there was a
desperate need for more space as their own children got
older (Jake has an older brother and two other siblings).

Basic costs which many of us take for granted…
If Jake had not received the $1,300 scholarship, it’s likely
he would not have been able to continue with his studies
as the cost of catching two trains within two zones of
Melbourne quickly adds up. He also could not have
afforded to buy the text books required.
Jake’s scholarship provided significant financial ease
for the family as a whole. It gave his mum and dad some
peace of mind knowing he could afford these things.
Jake has now secured himself a full-time electrical
apprenticeship and has a fierce desire to succeed to
guarantee he has options in the future.

I want to be able to do whatever
I choose once I have completed the
apprenticeship. I don’t want to stop there.
There are so many options, at the moment
I’m thinking about becoming a pilot or even
working on the electrics of aircraft. I
don’t want to just stick with one thing
for 20 years. I want to have options.

our work

Jake’s dream for a bright future

Currently Jake is saving to buy a better car as the one he
has is “pretty unreliable, but apprentice wages are tough,
so I’m also working on a Saturday doing some labouring
to save a bit more money,” he told us.
This young man is certainly dedicated to building his
dream future. A dream made possible by the support
of the CCAF. We thank Jake for sharing his story and
the CCAF for their belief in our Scholarship Program.

The Kids Under Cover studio provided the two brothers
with the space they required to take time out from the
chaotic and crowded home which at the time included
a baby. The studio also alleviated an enormous amount
of stress on the household.
Having the additional space of the studio ensured the
boys could study for their VCE and of course, have some
much-needed privacy and respite.
The scholarship assisted Jake with the costs of going to Uni.
He was able to buy text books and a scientific calculator and
purchase a yearly Myki pass for travel to and from classes.
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our funding
Kids Under Cover has several funding streams,
with a strong focus on diversification.
In the 2018 financial year, our funding derived
via the following streams:
Government funding

$2,129,019

27%

Individual donors

$2,305,847

29%

Corporate donors

$489,904

6%

$2,589,035

32%

Philanthropic trusts
and Foundations
Events

$142,698

2%

Investment income

$274,816

3%

$57,664

1%

$7,988,983

100%

Bequest

Government funding includes; Department of Health
and Human Services.
Individual donors include; individual and regular donors;
community fundraisers; workplace giving; and Donate
Your Car® funds.
Corporate donors include; donations and funds received
from organisations, Donate Your Car® donations from
organisations and council contributions and funds
provided for corporate studio builds.
Investment income includes; sale of assets.
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victorian
government
support
During the 2018 financial year Kids Under Cover
continued to foster a strong and positive relationship
with the Victorian State Government. We are grateful
for and recognise the support we receive from the
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS).
The financial support granted to our organisation helps
to fund studio builds for young people and families
throughout metropolitan and regional Victoria.
Secured funding from the Victorian State Government
contributed 27% of our total income for the 2018
financial year – just over $2 million in funding for our
Studio Program. This is a 6% reduction in funding on
the previous financial year.
As part of the Victorian Governments Accommodation
for the Homeless project, we were delighted to have been
granted an extension of funding for a four-year period
starting 2019 financial year. Totalling $3.8 million these
funds will further support our Studio Program.

In addition to the 22 studios per year, DHHS supports a
partnership with Melbourne City Mission called Detour.
Detour provided funding for the construction of eight
studios in 2017/18.
In 2018 the fear of uncertainty around funding became
a reality when we operated without Victorian Property
Fund (VPF) funding. In previous years this support has
majority funded 21 studios per year.
We continue to work closely with the VPF to renew
their support.
Kids Under Cover sincerely thanks the Victorian State
Government for the ongoing support we receive. We
continue to work with the Victorian Government to build
a strong relationship to support our shared vision of a
community where no young person is homeless.

Philanthropic
Partners

In January we received a one-off grant to be invested
specifically into our Village 21 project.

Partnerships with philanthropic donors such as trusts and
foundations are fundamental to Kids Under Cover’s work. In
2017/18, philanthropic donations and grants built almost half
of our studios, and fully-funded the 178 Kids Under Cover
scholarships awarded to young people living in our studios
along with the two Ken & Lenka Morgan scholarships.

Valued at $900,000 this funding will be dispersed across
a three-year period from 1 July 2018 until 2021 to support
the planning and implementation of Village 21.

In the past financial year, Kids Under Cover has been
indebted for the generosity of over 60 public and private
trusts and foundations.

DHHS has committed to providing funding of $1.25
million per annum for four years, this has enabled us
to build 22 studios each year for young people at risk
of homelessness. The 2018 financial year was the third
year of the four-year agreement.

We thank them for sharing our vision of a community
where no young person is homeless, and pledge to continue
honouring these relationships to the benefit of at-risk young
people. We treasure our philanthropic family; here are some
of its members.

Kids Under Cover have been a grateful beneficiary of the
Cassandra Gantner Foundation since June 2012. In that time,
over 90 scholarship recipients continued their education or
training due to the Foundation’s generosity.
Established by the late Neilma Gantner in 2004, the
Foundation is named in memory of her granddaughter
Cassandra. Cassandra was born with cerebral palsy in June
1972 and passed away aged just 19. During her short life,
Cassandra and her family were greatly aided by a range of
support programs including toy libraries, holiday programs
and residential care offered by a range of wonderful special
development organisations.
Cassandra’s memory is honoured by the Foundation
supporting children with a disability, especially a physical
or mental disability. Broader areas of disadvantage such as
youth homelessness are also supported when possible. The
Board is chaired by Carrillo Gantner AO, Cassandra’s father.
While the Foundation’s primary focus is on making grants
to organisations supporting children in need, the benefits
naturally extend more broadly than this, positively impacting
families and communities.
During the past seven years the Foundation has funded
basic needs scholarships for 94 young people formerly at
risk of homelessness. This year a further 20 or so grateful
recipients will receive scholarships to offset some of the
basic costs of their education and training.
The Foundation’s impact cannot be overstated. Recipients of
Cassandra Gantner Foundation-funded scholarships voice the
hope and sense of possibility enabled by their scholarships:
“I want to start my own plumbing business in which
I can share my skills with others.”
“ I wish to either become a social worker in the police
force or a social worker specialising in the area of
mental health”.
Many of the Kids Under Cover scholarship recipients
have endured challenging childhoods, often leading to a
lack of optimism for their futures. A scholarship can be
the catalyst to dream again, and carers appreciate the
reduction in financial stress.

During our relationship, the Cassandra Gantner Foundation
has both been a supporter of innovation (for example,
contributing to the trialling of our pilot Mentoring Program
in 2013/14) and an active philanthropic partner.
In December 2015, Foundation Chair Carrillo Gantner AO,
accompanied by fellow Trustee Robert Springall, visited
a Kids Under Cover studio in Laverton to meet with the
carer and increase their understanding of our early
intervention approach to preventing youth homelessness.
They stated the visit was “very worthwhile in increasing our
understanding of some of the issues associated with youth
homelessness”. With the two-bedroom studio in place to
reduce overcrowding, scholarships flowed to two young
people to fund tutoring that improved their basic literacy
and numeracy levels.
The legacy created in Cassandra’s honour continues to
support disadvantaged young people today, and for this
Kids Under Cover is eternally thankful.

Marian and EH Flack Trust

On his death in January 1935, Edwin Harold Flack was not only
mourned by family and friends, but by those with reverence
for Australia’s emerging place in the sporting world.
At a time when Bradman’s form was a barometer for the
national mood, and Phar Lap’s legend grew with the mystery
surrounding his early demise, the passing of Edwin Flack
gave pause to reflect on Australia’s first truly international
sporting champion. Flack was Australia’s inaugural Olympic
Gold Medallist, winning the 800m and 1500m double at the
first modern Olympic Games, held in Athens in 1896. Proving
his breadth of skills, he also competed in the marathon and
in doubles tennis!
His elevated place in sporting history was ensured with
these early sporting performances and reflected in his
election as Australia’s representative to the Olympic
Congress in Paris. It was also recognised in Australia’s
two Olympic cities, with the naming of both a boulevard
at the Sydney Olympic stadium and the bridge connecting
the Melbourne Cricket Ground with the city’s Olympic and
stadium precinct.
However, over the first three and half decades of the
20th century Flack also built a successful business

career. Prior to attending the Games, he gained experience
working as an accountant in Melbourne, then with Price
Waterhouse and Co. in London. On his return to Australia
after the Games, he joined his father in partnership as Flack
& Flack Chartered Accountants. Later becoming Senior
Partner, the company morphed into Pricewaterhouse
Coopers (now PwC).
On his death, Flack’s Will outlined the establishment of the
Marian and EH Flack Trust, with most of his estate to be
managed for charitable purposes, in perpetuity. Having
never married nor had children, the ‘Marian’ in the Trust’s
name is that of his mother. The Trust supports many various
charitable organisations. However, at their heart, grant
recipients must directly benefit the disadvantaged, and be
well governed organisations that provide effective solutions.

our funding

Cassandra Gantner
Foundation

In 2013, Kids Under Cover applied to the Trust for the first
time, receiving a grant to fund scholarships for 11 young
people at risk of homelessness. Over the following three
years the Flack Trust expanded its support to the Studio
Program, contributing to studio builds in Norlane, Heidelberg
Heights, Wendouree and St. Albans, thereby providing stable
and secure accommodation for six young people. Two of
these young people have since received scholarships.
The partnership moved to another level in 2017 when
the Trust confirmed a three-year pledge of support,
funding studios and around 15 scholarships each year
for three years. The first year of this new relationship
co-funded studios in Morwell and Wangaratta, providing
accommodation for two more young people at risk of
homelessness. In 2018 the Trust have contributed to two
more studios and another 15 scholarships.
By the end of year three of the new arrangement, the Marian
and EH Flack Trust will be responsible for ensuring at least
12 young people formerly at risk of homelessness have a
roof over their heads, and funding around 55 scholarships to
support the ongoing education and training of disadvantaged
young people. This outcome resonates with the Trust’s wish
that grant recipients address real issues with simple and
effective solutions.
That’s a record even Edwin Flack himself would have
been proud of; a gold medal performance in youth
homelessness prevention.
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Donate Your Car® is our very own social
enterprise. It provides a hassle-free way to
get rid of an old or unneeded vehicle, at no
cost, while making a valuable donation to help
prevent youth homelessness.

4,111

An innovative program, the funds raised through Donate
Your Car® support the work we do. In the 2018 financial
year we received 4,111 car donations all sold by our auction
partner with funds raised totalling almost $2 million.
Since the program’s inception 12 years ago, Donate
Your Car® has received more than 20,000 donations.
Donate Your Car® operates Australia wide yet 62% of
cars donated are from Victoria.
While the name may suggest we only take cars, we
also take boats, trailers, motorbikes and even buses!
We accept any vehicle, any make, any model, any year
– it all makes a difference.

Of all cars
donated

9%

green

donateyourcar.org.au

The most successful
donation was a 2014
Toyota Aurion that sold for
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$12,450

Number
of cars
donated
in 2018 FY

16%

2%

0.5%

5%

2%

car
donations
by state

27%
0.5%

62.5%

21%

blue

white

18%

silver

The oldest car donated was a blue
1958 Mercedes-Benz Karosserie
which sold for $8,500

0.5%

our funding

Top 5 Cars donated
Ford Falcon

239

Toyota Corolla

217

Holden Commodore

212

Toyota Camry

183

Mitsubishi Magna

156

Collection Area
Metro

3,703

Regional

408

Grand Total

4,111

How are people finding out about
Donate Your Car ?
Online (social media, Google Search, Website) 20.77%
Radio

14.89%

Referral / Word of Mouth

39.70%

Outdoor Advertising

6.48%

Print Media

7.28%

DID YOU KNOW
Donating a higher value vehicle to our Donate
Your Car® program is a win – win
For donors who are thinking about donating a vehicle
which might be valued at $5,000 or more, we work closely
with the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) to conduct a
valuation to provide a greater tax-deduction benefit.
If the vehicle is worth more than $5,000 the ATO will
provide a valuation certificate based on the current
market value. Once the car sells at auction the taxdeductible receipt is based on the ATO valuation amount.
During the 2018 financial year 34 cars were donated with
an ATO valuation. All cars sold for a combined $110,750.

Ross Wilson with Martin
Murley from Kids Under
Cover with the Jackaroo

Back in July 2017 we received a very cool
donation from our friend Ross Wilson. The
Australian singer-songwriter donated his
beloved “big blue Jackaroo” to Donate Your Car®
after spotting our billboards around Melbourne.

Ross told us many stories about the history of the car
which is steeped in Australian music history, having been
used to carry music equipment to and from gigs. Before
Ross, the Holden belonged to another Kids Under Cover
supporter, Mike Brady, known for the football anthem
Up There Cazaly.
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our work
Cover
story
For the love of family
Sarah and her husband were childhood
sweethearts – meeting at youth group at the
local church when they were both just teenagers.
They always wanted a big family coming from large
families themselves.
“We always wanted lots of kids but decided to stop at
three. After some missionary friends told us about a
trip they took to Thailand to visit some schools we both
decided we wanted to do something here to help kids,
so we looked into fostering,” says Sarah.
When we first met Sarah and Jono and their three kids
back in 2012 it was clear this beautiful family had an
enormous amount of love to give. Not just to each other
but to Nina who came to be a part of their family having
experienced a harrowing childhood.
“Nina came to us when she was just seven. At the time
we were offering respite care as short-term foster
carers,” remembers Sarah.
When Nina was a little girl she watched her parents
struggle with drug abuse. They were often angry and
violent, and Nina and her brothers suffered extreme
neglect and abuse.
A childhood filled with fear and distress, there was
little food, no clean clothes and Nina hardly ever went
to school.
The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS)
had been involved on and off for a while then one day
they stepped in when Nina and her two brothers were
left with a neighbour, which would happen often.
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Nina’s parents would disappear for days on end leaving
the three kids with neighbours. When they did have the
kids, they were living in the car or in hotels. This family
of five were often homeless.
“When Nina first came to us it was supposed to be for a
couple of weeks. Then a couple of weeks turned into a
couple of months,” remembers Sarah.
Nina’s two brothers were placed in foster care together.
The neglect and family violence they experienced was
enough to keep the three children in care long-term.
And so, Sarah and Jono went about making Nina part
of their family.
“Nina wasn’t going to school, so it was easy to enrol her
at the local school where my other kids were going. At
least she knew them, and they could keep an eye on her.”
Over the years rooms were rearranged to accommodate
the growing family and Nina was settling into family life.
“Church is a big part of our life. As a family we go
together. It has been good for Nina, there are men and
women in her life now she knows she can trust. And she
is part of our large extended family, she’s always just
been another kid in the family,” says Sarah.
As a young girl Nina would fantasise about going back to her
parents but deep down she knew this was her home now.

It wasn’t until they started talking about this with Nina
that Sarah realised Nina was terrified of her parents.

She was scared. Life with her parents
was scary, they were often on the run
from people they owed money to or
strangers would be hanging around. This
was no life for anyone, let alone a child.
“Nina needed an identity, she needed permanency, but a
permanent court order was not going to cut it. She needed
to be protected. She needed to know she was safe, that her
parents did not know where she was, she was petrified that
if they knew they would come and take her,” recalls Sarah.
So after some discussion with their own kids and with
DHHS Sarah and Jono decided to venture down the path
of long-term guardianship.
“My own kids didn’t want Nina to go anywhere else.
She was part of the family, another sister, our daughter.
I remember Katie saying, “but where would she go mum,
she has to stay with us, forever.” We knew then it was the
right decision,” smiles Sarah.

When Nina was 12 the family talked about permanent
care after advice from their case worker.

The process was long and arduous. The paperwork and
court appearances even more so. But well worth it. Nina
now had a place, she was happy and Sarah and the rest
of the family relieved to know she was now safe.

But, a permanent care arrangement would mean her
parents would have to know where she was. Legally it
was a requirement for them to know where she lived.

But it also meant this family needed more room. They
were in desperate need of additional space to keep
caring for Nina.

Nina with Sarah
and Tom

Here was a young girl with a traumatic
past, so traumatic no one really knew the
depth of her pain. She needed her own
space to heal.

We couldn’t afford to move to a bigger house or renovate
so it meant Nina would have to share with Katie. This was
fine for a while but when Nina started to hit puberty she
needed some privacy,” Sarah tells us.

“She used to say things to me like, “one day I’ll just
leave here, one day you won’t want me here” the studio
in some ways showed Nina this was it – she was not
going anywhere,” says Sarah.

Receiving a one-bedroom studio in 2012 meant the family
could stay put. The kids could settle and Sarah’s children
could remain in the home they grew up in.

Adjusting and coping as a family has been hard,
it’s been a learning curve, and they are still learning,
but the result so far proves this family have a lot of
love to give.

It also meant Nina knew for sure she was part of the family.
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“Before the studio if Nina was in a bad mood or Tom and
Josh were running riot, there was no escaping. Nina
didn’t have her own space to retreat to, it was stressful,
each child has their own issues and there was never
enough room to deal with them,” remembers Sarah.
Overcrowding can strain even the most loving relationships
and as they got older they needed their own space.
“People don’t understand when a girl hits puberty that’s
hard. It’s hard enough for them to deal with already,
being younger Katie didn’t understand why Nina needed
her privacy.

Nina now 19

It’s taken a long time for Nina to believe she is worthy of
being loved. The rejection she felt from her own mum
meant Nina found it hard to connect, to believe she was
worthy of being part of such a caring family.
Sarah laughs when she tells us how her own kids joke
about Nina being the “chosen one” that she is special. And
she is. The whole family feel lucky to have her in their lives.
When they got approved for the studio straight away they
knew Nina needed to stay inside the main house.
Their eldest son Tom was the logical choice to move into
the studio.
This meant Nina and Katie could finally have their
own rooms. And Josh kept his room. Remaining in the
house meant Nina still had Sarah’s support and Katie’s
friendship. The girls would often have sleepovers in their
rooms and help each other with their homework.

For the first time in her life Nina had
a desk, she had her own bed, she had her
own room. She had a home with space
to heal.
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Nina passed her Year 12 exams and is now in her second
year at university studying to be a social worker. Her
dreams for her future are coming true.
Tom remembers the difference the studio made in the
beginning, “it gave us all some much needed space, and
Mum could keep an eye on Nina, she could go into her
room and talk things through with her when she was
upset. It was and still is really important for Nina to have
the physical and emotional space to deal with her past.”
Tom is now 23 and recently joined the police force. He
still lives in the studio and is engaged to be married.

“Space makes a difference, it’s weird, you don’t think it
does. When you need time out you just go to your room,
I do that all the time.

“Maybe when he moves out to start his own family Nina
will move into the studio, but for now, it’s nice having her
close to me,” says Sarah.

“With Nina hitting puberty and having to concentrate on her
school work to catch up she would spend hours trying to
read at night and do her homework. Katie would talk and
talk and Nina would get frustrated,” remembers Sarah.

Sarah’s relationship with Nina continues to grow, maybe
even one day Nina will call her Mum, but for now, Sarah
is just content seeing Nina happy, seeing her succeeding,
knowing she has played a part in helping her to heal.

The studio gave Nina so much more than just her own room.
She fell in love with reading and wanted to better herself.
She focussed on her school work and was determined
to do well so she could go on to university.
But it’s been a long road, things haven’t always been
easy, and the road has been bumpy.
Anglicare have been a wonderful support to Sarah and
Nina. Sandra has been their social worker for nine years
now and is just like family.
“She has been a huge part of Nina’s life. They are good
friends. A good case worker is like gold and that’s exactly
what Sandra has been to us,” says Sarah.
If Sarah needed support she could ring her at any time,
day or night, she was someone Sarah could be completely
open with. On the days when she felt she was not coping,
when she needed to vent or just needed advice.
Jono is also an enormous support for Sarah. At times when
she felt like she was failing she would cry on his shoulder
only to have him remind her she was doing a great job, that
Nina was doing well at school, she was happy and she was
safe. What more could they want at this time?

Tom and Astro
outside the onebedroom studio

On display for five days our compact home, The Loft was
a very popular attraction.
Thanks to the World of Style by Porter Davis team the
display home wowed visitors to the show with its elegance
and sophisticated styling.

The Peak – by Grimshaw
Architects offers
a 32.5sqm footprint

Following on from our debut at the Show, we received
hundreds of enquiries online from people thinking about
downsizing or seeking additional space to accommodate
family members or even set-up an Airbnb.
There is no doubt housing affordability is a hot topic. So,
when it comes to affordable alternatives to the typical
offerings, those in the market for a new home or additional
space have certainly taken notice of what Nestd has to offer.

Compact Homes
creating a stir
Within our three-year strategy implemented in
the 2016 financial year, the need to achieve scale
and diversify income was identified driving the
exploration of social enterprise modelling.
In late 2017 the Kids Under Cover Board made a strategic
decision to progress our studio model for the commercial
domestic homeowner market. Funded by the Lord Mayors
Charitable Foundation and the Nous Community Partnership
Program, extensive research and exploration of the market
was conducted to ensure such a plan was feasible.
The decision to proceed saw us collaborate with Ortech
Industries (current manufacturer of our studios) and NH
Architecture to develop our first commercial prototype.
Launching our brand-new social enterprise, Nestd at the
Melbourne International Flower & Garden Show in March
2018 was a very proud moment for the whole Kids Under
Cover team.

The highly anticipated design by Peter Maddison Architects
now completes the five compact home offerings.

Leveraging on our experience in building studios,
Nestd offers stylish architecturally designed smart and
sustainable compact homes to fit into existing backyards or
stand alone on a block of land in the country or by the sea.

We look forward to sharing more of the journey of Nestd
by keeping you up to date with the progress as we journey
further with this venture.

For purchasers seeking to make a greater difference, Nestd
provides a socially responsible option with 100% of profits
from the sale of these homes directed back into the Kids
Under Cover prevention programs.

It is with thanks we acknowledge the following
funders who have been instrumental in supporting
the development of Nestd

The hype around sustainable and ‘tiny’ living was realised
with Nestd creating quite a stir in the market, attracting a
variety of media attention.

• Besen Family Foundation
• Goodridge Foundation
• Lord Mayor’s Charitable Foundation
• Nous Community Partnership Program
• Portland House Foundation
• The Shine On Foundation
• William Angliss (Victoria) Charitable Fund

Featuring on Channel 9’s A Current Affair program and in
The Herald Sun and Domain Magazine, along with a variety
of online publications, Nestd has generated huge interest
in a short period of time.
To achieve scale, we are exploring opportunities for
small scale developments on a commercial basis and
the possibility of partnering with Government to address
housing affordability.
Nestd compact homes also advance the cause of
managing higher density living and maximizing space.
The development of an ‘Ageing in Place’ concept has also
commenced. These concepts would stand as parallel
activities to direct sale of compact home kits.
Thanks to Grimshaw Architects The Peak, a single story
compact home was released in June, followed by the
release of The Maquette by Ravida Homes.

our funding

The Loft on display
at the Melbourne
International Flower
& Garden Show 2018

We also acknowledge the support of Sensum whom we
have welcomed onboard as the official project managers
for the construction of Nestd homes once purchased.
Leaders in modern construction project management,
Sensum have provided an incredible amount of support
to the Nestd team bringing their wealth of construction
knowledge to the table. They have assisted us enormously
with the high level finer details relating to the construction
of our compact homes.
In addition, Vaughan Constructions generously provided
space in Port Melbourne for The Loft to be displayed and
Ortech Industries have been generous supporters of the
development of Nestd.
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BUILDING LASTING AND IMPACTFUL RELATIONSHIPS
Building meaningful, supportive partnerships
and relationships throughout the community is
imperative to building a community that cares.
Having a team of partners who share our vision
ensures we can support at risk young people and
provides great benefit to an organisation wanting
to make a real difference.
Australian businesses give $6.2 billion in donations, $7.7
billion in community partnerships and a further $3.6
billion in non-commercial sponsorships1.
At Kids Under Cover we strive to establish long-term,
meaningful relationships that deliver tangible value to
our partners whilst creating a positive difference in the
lives of at-risk young people.
In most instances the decision a partner makes to
support our work comes from the heart. It comes from a
connection and shared desire to support disadvantaged
young people.

Over the years we have grown together and in 20 years
they have contributed $850,000 in support of our work.
This type of investment has gone a long way in keeping
families together, ensuring young people do not become
the face of homelessness in Australia.
A member-based organisation, Incolink provides
members with a valuable safety net through redundancy
payments, portable sick leave, insurances and mental
health and wellbeing support services.
The ongoing support we have received from Incolink has
been instrumental in enabling us to deliver our programs
efficiently and professionally.
Their legacy will be a strong and sustainable Kids Under
Cover that can continue to build foundations to prevent
youth homelessness and we thank Incolink sincerely
for their long-standing support of our work and belief
in what we do.

After almost 30 years of support and collaboration
Incolink donated a final $100,000 to Kids Under
Cover during the 2018 financial year.
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In the 2018 financial year alone, the team raised more
than $50,000 through a workplace fundraising campaign
which saw staff and the company making donations in
support of our work.
It is with sincere gratitude we thank Harris HMC, the
studio build team, employees and company directors
for their continued support of our work.

Each year the team hold fundraising events and activities,
committing to donate $30,000 annually to support our work.

Supporting Kids Under Cover since the early 1990’s,
Incolink have made a significant difference to our
organisation, sharing in our vision of a community
where no young person is homeless.

Giving Australia 2016 Business Giving and Volunteering Overview, August 2017

But, the support has extended well beyond the
building of studios. Since June 2011 Harris HMC have
donated over $100,000.00 through attendance at the
Umbrella Ball, work site fundraising, employee giving
and sponsorships.

The team at Rondo have been shining a light on
youth homelessness since 2012. A Silver Partner,
Rondo’s commitment to supporting at risk young
people has been invaluable, both financially and for
brand awareness.

It is the long-lasting relationships which have the
greatest impact for young people.

1

During this time, they have constructed close to 450
studios – 255 one-bedroom and 186 two-bedroom,
supporting more than 600 young people.

Rondo Building Services continue to show their
support through a variety of fundraising events
around Australia.

We partner with businesses who want to collaborate to
prevent youth homelessness, through financial support,
pro-bono services, staff engagement and volunteering
opportunities or a mixture of these.

During the early days, support from Incolink included the
provision of office space for Kids Under Cover staff and
equipment along with secretarial and accounting assistance.

For the best part of a decade, our Foundation
Partner, Harris HMC have been contracted to
build our studios.

Kids Under Cover CEO, Jo Swift
with Dan O’Brien, CEO, Incolink.

The annual Rondo Corporate Golf Day is always a
tremendous success. This intimate event attended by
Rondo resellers, customers and other stakeholders
provides a valuable opportunity for our team to speak
with attendees raising awareness of the benefits
provided for young people through our Studio and
Scholarship Programs.

making regular pre-tax donations via their payroll to Kids
Under Cover through a workplace giving program.
During the 2018 financial year we had 65 individual workplace
givers participating in a program, with six organisations
matching employee contributions to show their wider support.
According to Australian Taxation Office Individual Returns
2015-16 Income Year, Workplace Giving contributions
given annually by employees across Australia is $35
million. Generously we received just over $35,000 from
workplace giving donations in the 2018 financial year,
an increase of 30% on the previous financial year.
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Kerry Butcher with Greg Thomas
and Mark Callaghan from Rondo

Reasons why people use
Workplace Giving schemes
The convenience and ease of making regular donations
pre-tax continues to appeal to many employees, whilst
including a cause which is important to the employee is
the greatest draw card for participation.
The program included
a cause important to me

Each year we are lucky enough to be the beneficiary
of the Rondo Race Day held at the Gold Coast Turf Club
– a very popular event attended by many hundreds of
people. In 2018 Executive General Manager, Greg Thomas
kicked things off, welcoming everyone to the event, which
not only included 8 races on the track but a variety of
activities including fashions on the field, raffles and
auctions all in aid of raising funds to support our work.
And the 2018 event did not disappoint. Thanks to the
generosity of those who attended, the Race Day raised
a staggering $33,500.
We also gratefully acknowledge the support we have
received from Rondo for our Cubby House Challenge®
event. For many years they generously sponsored the
event, contributing to the overall success.
Throughout the past six years Rondo have raised almost
$110,000 – that’s the equivalent to funding two brand
new studios!

But, just as important as the funds raised by Rondo each
year is the awareness they raise of our work and the issue
of youth homelessness. Having such terrific advocates
out in the community, talking to their networks, spreading
the word really does make an enormous difference and
assists in raising our profile nationally.
We are incredibly grateful for the support we receive
from Rondo, and their own partners who sponsor and
support their fundraising efforts. Thank you.
We are deeply grateful to our corporate partners &
supporters for their commitment to our work and thank
those, old and new, for their contribution to the fight
against youth homelessness.

Workplace Giving
– the smart way to give
In the 2018 financial year REA Group and Estimate One, joined
a growing number of organisations who have employees

28%

It is convenient

16%

The workplace leaders
encourage participation

12%

It is easy to set up

11%

The workplace
matches my gift

8%

Giving Australia 2016 Australian Individual Giving and Volunteering Webinar Series, May 2018

THANK YOU
We warmly thank everyone who gave through a
workplace giving program and acknowledge those
organisations who participate – facilitating regular
donations to Kids Under Cover.
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CUBBY HOUSES CONNECTING US FOR A DECADE
which saw Kids Under Cover join forces with the Melbourne
International Flower & Garden Show in recent years.

Buyers advocate Nide Jacobs placed
the winning bid on ‘Rocky Road’
auctioned by Harry Li.

In 2018 a vibrant blue head, fairy-tale log cabin and
a web-like interactive wonderland sat alongside a
whimsical connect four modular climbing block within
the gardens at the 10th event. But it was the imaginatively
delicious Rocky Road cubby that stole the show at the
special twilight auction event held within the picturesque
Carlton Gardens on 22 March.
The team from Becon Constructions and Watson
Young Architects not only wowed the judges with their
wildly colourful cubby creation but also inspired some
spirited bidding on auction night, taking home the title
of Australia’s Best Cubby selling for $20,500.
A futuristic fusion of geometric shapes with different
play areas for the ultimate sensory experience, Rocky
Road took home four of the six awards up for grabs
including Most Imaginative and Interactive Cubby and
Kids Choice Award.
This year’s expert judging panel included Peter Maddison,
architect and host of Grand Designs Australia; Shaynna
Blaze, interior designer and judge on Channel 9’s The
Block; Emily Power, Editor of Domain; and Ben and Andy,
former contestants on The Block.

It’s been 10 years since the Cubby House
Challenge® became a staple event on the
Kids Under Cover fundraising calendar and
in 2018 the cubbies reached new heights.
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Since its inception the event has grown enormously.
In June 2009 the Master Builders Association of Victoria
shone a light on the issue of youth homelessness at their
Building and Home Improvement Expo. It was here the
inaugural Cubby House Challenge® was launched.

The team from Fasham Johnson were the first to design
and build a cubby which was displayed at the Expo and
was up for grabs through a public raffle. In its first year
the Cubby House Challenge® raised $12,000 and so, due
to the enormous success and interest in the event, a
bigger and better challenge was planned for 2010 which
saw a move to Moomba!
This unique event has transformed over the years from
one cubby to five. Many builders and designers have
participated contributing to the huge success of the event

The real experts, a group of children from Carlton
Gardens Primary School joined the judging panel to put
the cubbies to the test and cast their vote for the Kids
Choice Award.
The 10th Cubby House Challenge® did not disappoint.
All five cubbies sold on the night raising over $70,000 to
support our youth homelessness prevention programs.
Peter Maddison was on hand to present the team from
Buildher Collective, Beirin Projects and Bellemo & Cat
with the award for Best Architecturally Designed Cubby
for their beautifully sculptured 3-dimensional jigsaw
puzzle cubby, Heads Up.

Since its inception the Cubby House Challenge® has
raised over $600,000 for Kids Under Cover. This year
the event raised just over $100,000!
In 2018 we welcomed the support of Shura Taft as
MC along with our long-time auction partners; Luke
Banitsiotis from Woodards; Craig Shearn from Jellis Craig
Inner North; Tom Roberts from Nelson Alexander; James
Hatzolos representing RT Edgar and of course Harry Li
from iSell Group – who took out the Top Auctioneer Award.
The generosity of the purchasers coupled with the support
of the event sponsors and partners has a significant
impact on the work we can do. Equally as important
is the support shown by the design and build teams.

During the summer school holidays, The District
Docklands held activities for children to participate in
the design and build of their cubby house, Block Party.
Engaging the local community on the project created
such a wonderful community connection which resulted
in The District Docklands deciding to buy the cubby back
at auction. Block Party was returned to the shopping
precinct for the community to enjoy.
“This year we were overwhelmed by the efforts of
the build and design teams, and the generous bidders,”
said Jo Swift, CEO of Kids Under Cover. “The funds
raised from the auction of the cubbies is invested into
preventing youth homelessness through our Studio and
Scholarship Programs.”
Figurehead Construction in collaboration with Bayley
Ward created a web-like, climbing wonderland suitable
for any budding Spiderman. Joe Grasso, Managing
Director, said the Cubby House Challenge® was an
opportunity to give back to those less fortunate. “At
Figurehead Construction, we like to give back beyond just
writing a cheque but by putting in our time, effort and
passion for the greater good,” Joe said. “Giving connects
us to each other and it connects us to others by creating
a stronger community.”
And connect us these cubbies did. More than 90,000
people visited the Melbourne International Flower &
Garden Show and anyone with kids most certainly
stopped by the Cubby House Village to check them out.
CEO, Jo Swift sees firsthand the joy the cubbies bring.
“I take great delight in seeing the children visit the Cubby
House Village to play in the cubbies. This really highlights
the important role of play in a child’s life. But it is the big
kids, the parents, I really enjoy seeing interact with their
children or grandchildren, perhaps remembering the
simple pleasure of innocent fun.”

Volunteers from ANZUR
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World of Style by Porter Davis proved they certainly
are the experts in style taking home the award for Best
Interior Designed Cubby for their fairy-tale inspired cubby,
The Eyrie.

The District Docklands & NH Architecture
teams with ‘Block Party’.

In 2019 this event will stand aside to make way for our
30th anniversary celebrations, which we will mark with
some special events and initiatives.
An event such as the Cubby House Challenge® is never
possible without a dedicated team of volunteers.
Thank you to everyone who joined us on site, this year and
over the last decade. We loved having you as part of our team
and are so grateful for the commitment of time you gave.
Thank you to all event partners and sponsors who
continue to show support for at-risk young people.
Thank you to the Turosi Trust who supported the 2018 event.
Congratulations, and thank you to the following 2018
build and design teams who generously donated their
time, expertise and of course the incredible cubby
houses for auction;

We are very grateful to have been part of the Melbourne
International Flower & Garden Show as the Official
Charity Partner for the last few years.

Becon Constructions and Watson Young Architects

Though all good things must come to an end and for
the Cubby House Challenge® event at the Melbourne
International Flower & Garden Show we feel it is time
for a rest.

Figurehead Construction and architect Bayley Ward

Buildher Collective, Beirin Projects and Bellemo & Cat
The District Docklands, NH Architecture and APM Group
Porter Davis and the World of Style team
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Kids Under Cover in the Community
What an enormous amount of support we received
from the community in the 2018 financial year.
Raising awareness of our work and the issue of youth
homelessness is tough but with the right people standing
alongside us, people who share our vision, this job is
made much easier.
Each year we continue to be overwhelmed by the growing
number of people who care as much as we do about
young people who are at risk of homelessness.
Raising funds is important and greatly appreciated but
raising awareness of this issue and our work really does
make a significant difference
During the past financial year, the increase in the number
of individuals and community groups supporting our
work has been staggering.

Throughout the 2018 financial year 139 fundraising
events and activities were held within the community,
raising an incredible $202,000. This amount is hard to
believe as it represents a 171% increase on the funds
raised in the 2017 financial year – a phenomenal result
and one for which we are extremely grateful.
This also suggests within the community there is
growing concern for greater action when it comes to
youth homelessness and the homelessness crisis.
Demonstrating a commitment to fighting youth
homelessness our generous supporters took part in a
variety of events and fun runs. They held fundraising
BBQ’s or a casual clothes day. Some even showed their
support by taking donations in lieu of birthday presents.
It is with sincere gratitude we mention our friends at
A1 Office who in September 2017 raised $48,325 at the

inaugural ‘Give Me Shelter’ fundraising dinner. Supported by
300 guests the evening was a huge success and thanks
to the generosity of CEO, Jared Wade, it won’t be the last
of their fundraising events.
Of our enthusiastic community of fundraisers, we are
also extremely grateful for the support we received from
the following fundraisers.
Throughout the footy season members of the Yarra
Junior Football League showed they care by holding
raffles, sausage sizzles and collecting donations at the
gates. Their efforts raised just over $6,000.
We were fortunate to be the beneficiary of the Banyule
Netball Association’s Charity Day held in October 2017
which saw us receive a donation of $7,242 from the event.
We are equally grateful to have been included as part of
the Charity Tap campaign during October, November and
December in 2017. A busy time of year in Melbourne, we
received close to $5,000 thanks to people who chose to
drink from the ‘Charity Tap’ when out and about.
Each year we are lucky enough to have the support of a
range of primary and secondary schools. During 2017/18
North Geelong Secondary College produced a recipe
calendar. They raised $2,200 from sales. Brunswick
Secondary College dressed up for a day raising $1,500
in May and students from Mill Park Primary School wore
their pyjamas to school raising just over $1,000.
Students from Geelong Grammar School organised
several activities at the school to raise funds. They
participated in a relay, held a sleep rough night and a
pancake and pizza day, all to support young people at
risk of homelessness. These kind-hearted kids raised
just over $6,000.

Students from Geelong
Grammar at their relay
for charity event
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For the fourth year in a row the Springvale Homemaker
Centre Charity Auction was a tremendous success. Held
in the Homemaker Centre the auction in late November
saw shoppers not only bag a bargain but raise $8,595

Volunteers are the unsung heroes of any not for profit
organisation and the individuals who have assisted us
in our work are no exception.
At Kids Under Cover we are lucky to have some
truly dedicated volunteers as part of our team and
regular volunteers who help in the office and at
special events.

A1 Office CEO Jared Wade at the
2017 Give me Shelter gala dinner

thanks to a variety of stores within the centre donating
items to be auctioned.
And of course long-time supporters Golden Messenger
raised $10,035 at their annual garage sale event.
A different event amongst our community of fundraisers
made the news up in sunny Queensland. The Cheyne
Horan School of Surf committed to donating 2% of sales
in October from surf lessons to support our work. Cheyne
featured on Nine News on the Gold Coast raising our
profile in the sunshine state. They raised $2,070 from
those wanting to learn to surf.
Deciding to ask guests at your birthday party to make a
donation instead of bringing a gift is a pretty selfless gesture.
When you are just 12 years old it’s also an inspiring one.
Make that six kids forgoing birthday presents in lieu
of donations and we think it’s truly remarkable! That’s
exactly what Sam McKay and his friends did when they
held a combined glow in the dark party to celebrate
turning 12. Thanks to the generosity of their friends
they raised almost $4,000.
Without the support of all community fundraisers, their
family and friends, and the wider community, we could
not continue to deliver our programs. On behalf of the
young people and families we have supported we thank
you for helping to make a difference.

A special thanks to UniSuper, PEXA, Manheim, AGL,
IAG and ANZ who encouraged staff to get involved
with our volunteering program and of course all other
individuals who bring family and friends along to help!
If you would like to get involved and volunteer please
email volunteer@kuc.org.au
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Volunteers Make a World of Difference

We would like to thank Wendy Wicks, Cienna Turpie
and Francine Kenny who take time out of their busy
lives to help with tasks in the office on a regular basis.
Throughout the 2018 financial year 244 people
generously gave their time to support us. For a small
organisation like ours to have that kind of support
is truly heart-warming and really does make a
significant difference to the work we do.
At the 2018 Cubby House Challenge® event we were
delighted to have hundreds of volunteers lend a
hand, many even showing up for their shift when the
weather conditions took a turn for the worse. Thank
you to the individuals who contributed to the success
of this event by talking to people about our work,
selling merchandise and raffle tickets, manning cubby
houses and keeping the kids entertained and looking
after Bernie (our Donate Your Car® mascot).
Each year we are lucky to have the support of the
Spencer Outlet Centre. During the month of December,
we offer a gift-wrapping service for shoppers in the
lead-up to Christmas. We couldn’t do this without an
army of volunteers to do the wrapping!
We sincerely thank the 60 volunteers who generously
gave their time (and skills!) to wrap gifts during
December 2017.
This fundraising activity raised $3,000 to support
our work. Equally important is the opportunity this
activity provides for us to raise our profile within
the community.

Volunteers from PEXA at the
2017 Christmas wrapping stall
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our people
leadership team
Jo Swift
Chief Executive Officer
Jo Swift joined Kids Under
Cover 16 years ago, and
in 2017 celebrated ten
years as CEO. Today,
Jo continues to be the
visionary behind the
direction of the organisation as we head
towards our 30th year.
Jo’s energy and genuine passion for making
a lasting difference in the lives of young
people derives from those supported by
the Kids Under Cover programs.
“I am inspired daily by the young people and
their families. The hardship they’ve endured,
their resilience and dedication to making things
work despite their challenges is enormously
inspiring. It’s a privilege to come to work every
day and change lives.”
Jo’s dedication to her role and drive for
continued innovation ensures the success
and growth of Kids Under Cover.
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During her time as CEO the Kids Under Cover
portfolio of studios has grown from 156 to more
than 500 studios on the ground as at 30 June
2018. Under her leadership the organisation has
supported more than 3,000 young people and
awarded more than 900 scholarships.
During the 2018 financial year Jo was the
driving force behind the development of the
Short Stays Studio Program to address the
gap in support offered to young people for
emergency accommodation.
Another innovative direction taken under her
leadership saw the development of Nestd,
a strategic decision made to build our own
financial stability.
In 2018, Jo undoubtedly proved her desire to
ensure the organisations longevity and ability
to deliver greater support to young people,
thinking outside the square to ensure young
people are given every opportunity to create
a brighter future.

Heather
Fisher

General Manager
A qualified Chartered Accountant,
Heather brings more than 20 years’ experience to
the team at Kids Under Cover.
Heather commenced her career in a top tier
Chartered Accounting firm before moving into
various executive roles in the service industry.
Heather joined Kids Under Cover in March 2016
in the role of General Manager.
A respected executive with a reputation for
integrity, quality, and delivering outcomes. Heather
is responsible for finance, administration, human
resources, strategic planning, operations, information
technology, risk and governance, Heather is
supported by a team of dedicated professionals to
ensure the effective running of the organisation.

Finance Manager

With a career spanning all sectors
including private, public and notfor-profit Geoff joined the Kids
Under Cover team in May 2018 taking on the role
of Finance Manager.

PETE ZWIERS

National Programs Manager
A valued member of the Senior
Management Team, Pete joined us in
November 2017 overseeing the endto-end delivery of the Kids Under Cover Studio and
Scholarship Programs.
Spending more than 10 years in the not-for-profit
sector and with a background in project management,
Pete has a real passion for affecting positive
social change through the betterment of physical
environment and improved living conditions.
Hitting the ground running since his arrival, Pete
has managed the launch of the Short Stays Studio
Program and the delivery of the Village 21 project.
In the 12 months since joining the team, Pete
has been humbled to see the meaningful and
long-lasting difference being made in the lives
of disadvantaged young people through the Studio
and Scholarship Programs and has enjoyed meeting
many of the young people and families supported
by Kids Under Cover.

SARAH BENNETT
People and Office Manager
Sarah joined the team in July
2018 covering a maternity leave
position. Sarah is responsible
for the implementation and evaluation of the
organisations operational plans and human
resource management.

A member of CPA Australia, member of the
Governance Institute of Australia and a Microsoft
Certified Systems Engineer, Geoff possesses a wealth
of knowledge, expertise and experience spanning
more than 25 years in the finance sector.
With a commitment to deliver a high-level of service
to enhance the organisations goals, Geoff has become
a valued member of the Kids Under Cover team as he
fills a maternity leave position.

Sarah brings a wealth of knowledge and experience
in human resources, industrial relations and
organisational change. Throughout her career Sarah
has assisted with workplace transition from private
to public structure, reviewed organisational practice
across multiple business units, and undertaken
compliance and regulatory reviews.

Bianca Richards

Assisting companies and individual clients to navigate
their way through the complex immigration landscape
to achieve positive outcomes has been a highlight of
her career.

Bianca led the Marketing and Fundraising team from
November 2015 until the end of the 2018 financial
year. Dedicated to raising the profile of Kids Under
Cover and increasing fundraising revenue, Bianca
achieved remarkable results during her time.

Sarah holds a Bachelor of Arts from the University of
Melbourne and a Post Graduate Diploma in Employee
and Industrial Relations from Monash University.

our people

GEOFF WEBBER

National Marketing and
Fundraising Manager

Overseeing all fundraising activities, including Donate
Your Car®, as well as brand management, marketing
and communications, Bianca was instrumental in
nurturing the relationship with Channel 9, securing
our recent segment on The Block.
During the 2018 financial year Bianca’s success was
demonstrated with fundraising revenue exceeding
$5 million.
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our board
Colin Radford

Alison Tait

Role: To ensure the strategic development of Kids Under
Cover and sustain strong corporate governance by providing
in-depth knowledge of government; its agencies, operations,
stakeholders, processes and objectives.

Role: To support Kids Under Cover in meeting its financial
reporting requirements and risk management.

Chair

Colin is the CEO of the Victorian Managed Insurance
Authority and a non-executive director, of the Transport
Accident Commission (TAC).
A Williamson Fellow and Graduate of Columbia Business
School and the Australian Institute of Company Directors,
Colin has more than 25 years’ experience as a senior
government executive and advisor, including seven
years as a Partner at Deloitte.
Colin joined the Kids Under Cover Board in July 2014
and was appointed Chair in November 2017.

Nathaniel Popelianski
Vice Chair

Role: To ensure Kids Under Cover practices are within
the law and our constitution reflects our organisation
and growth.
Nathaniel is a partner at Corrs Chambers Westgarth
where he heads up the National Property and
Infrastructure team. He is known for his ability to
calmly and quietly come up with clever solutions
to seemingly insurmountable problems.
Nathaniel assumed the position of Vice Chair in
November 2017 and has been on the Kids Under
Cover board since August 2012.
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Treasurer,
Finance Audit and Risk Committee Chair
Joining the Kids Under Cover Board in July 2014, Alison
is a Partner at PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) and
has extensive experience in accounting and financial
reporting. Alison is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants with a Bachelor of Commerce
and over 15 years’ experience working with ASX listed
companies and large multinationals in the retail,
consumer and industrial products sector.

Sarah Davies

Director,
Remuneration Committee Chair
Role: To support the strategic development of Kids Under
Cover particularly in the areas of strategy and governance.
CEO of Philanthropy Australia, Sarah joined the board in
2003. With a background in education, Sarah established
the Kids Under Cover Scholarship Program in 2004.
Sarah is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Management,
a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors,
a Fellow of the Williamson Community Leadership Program
and a Victorian JP. Sarah has a keen interest in supporting
young people having previously held the position of CEO of
The Reach Foundation, a for-purpose organisation working
to improve the wellbeing of young people, so they can get
the most out of life.

THE BOARD

Deborah Tsorbaris
Director

The Kids Under Cover Board is responsible for the overall governance of the organisation
including its strategic direction, establishing goals for management and monitoring the
achievement of those goals. The board convenes a minimum of six times per year plus
an additional meeting at the Annual General Meeting (AGM).

Deb joined the board in February 2017, bringing a
wealth of experience including government and peak
body, most recently as CEO of the Centre for Excellence
in Child and Family Welfare.

Code of Conduct
Under the leadership of the Chair and the CEO, and within the boundaries of the
constitution, the board determines and articulates the values, vision and the strategic
direction of Kids Under Cover. In doing this, the board is expected to:

Deb spent six years as CEO at Council to Homeless
Persons, four years with The Department of Health &
Human Services and was appointed CEO at The Centre
for Excellence in Child and Family Welfare in 2013.

• meet fiduciary responsibilities
as required under all relevant
commonwealth and state legislation;
• act within their duty of care to make
decisions in the best interests of Kids
Under Cover;

George Liacos
Director

In August 2018 we welcomed George Liacos to the board.
With over 25 years of strategy, innovation and industry
experience, George has become a highly sought-after public
speaker and writer, sharing his insights and lessons-learned
to audiences and readers around the world.
George is the founder and chief strategist of Spark
Strategy and works across sectors to bring people
and organisations together around their purpose
and for massive social impact.
George also works with national and local governments
undertaking social system reform.
We anticipate with his skills and experience George will
be an enormous asset to the board and the organisation
as whole.

• avoid conflicts of interest;
• develop strategic planning and
direction of Kids Under Cover including
monitoring organisational performance
and evaluating strategic results;

board & governance

governance

• endorse internal policies;
• r eport back to the stakeholders
at the AGM;
•m
 onitor the organisational compliance
with the relevant commonwealth and
state legislation and with Kids Under
Cover’s own policies; and
• evaluate its effectiveness as a board.

board committees
Finance Audit and Risk Committee
Assists the board in fulfilling its
fiduciary responsibilities and ensures
the ongoing fiscal accuracy and health
of the organisation.
Identifies, reviews and rates the
potential current and future risks to the
organisation. The committee ensures
appropriate systems, measures and
support are in place to minimise risks
to the organisation.

The committee guarantees policies and
processes are observed and ensure we
receive an unqualified audit report each
year from Pitcher Partners.
Remuneration Committee
Reviews pay, conditions and performance
of senior management and reviews
recommendations made by the CEO
in relation to staff recognition.
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The following directors were in office at the date of this report:
C. Radford (Chair)
S. Davies
N. Popelianski
A. Tait
D. Tsorbaris
G. Liacos
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Company Secretary

J. Swift

Registered office
and principal place
of business

383 Swan Street Richmond VIC 3121

bankers

Bank of Melbourne
530 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Auditors

Pitcher Partners
Level 13
604 Collins Street
Docklands VIC 3008

The directors present their report together with the financial report of the group,
being the company and its controlled entity, for the year ended 30 June 2018 and
auditor’s report thereon.
Directors’ names
The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:
Andy Coleman (resigned 16 November 2017)
Colin Radford
Sarah Davies
Nathaniel Popelianski
Alison Tait
Deborah Tsorbaris
George Liacos (appointed 20 June 2018)

In doing this we seek to keep families together, keep young people engaged
in education and connected with their community.
Performance measures
To evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of the organisations programmatic
activities a monitoring & evaluation framework is in place. The annual evaluation
report can be found in the annual report.
After balance date events
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the group, the results
of those operations, or the state of affairs of the group in future financial years.
meetings of directors

The directors have been in office since the start of the year to the date
of this report unless otherwise stated.

DIRECTORS

board meetings
eligible to attEnd

Number
attended

Andy Coleman

3

1

Results

Colin Radford

7

7

The deficit of the group for the year amounted to $268,117.

Sarah Davies

7

5

Review of operations

Nathaniel Popelianski

7

6

The group continued to engage in its principal activity, the results of which
are disclosed in the attached financial statements.

Alison Tait

7

7

Deborah Tsorbaris

7

6

Significant changes in state of affairs

George Liacos

1

1

There were no significant changes in the group’s state of affairs that occurred
during the financial year, other than those referred to elsewhere in this report.
Principal activities
The principal activities of the group during the year were:
- Provision of one and two bedroom studios
- Provision of scholarships
- Fundraising through gifts, donations, government and philanthropic grants,
appeals, events and regular giving programs.

financial report
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Members guarantee
The group is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a group limited by
guarantee. If the group is wound up, the Constitution states that each member is required
to contribute to a maximum of $1 each towards meeting any outstandings and obligations
of the group. At 30 June 2018 the number of members was 6. The combined total amount
that members of the group are liable to contribute if the group is wound up is $6.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors.

The company established a wholly owned entity, Nestd, in the year. Nestd is a social
enterprise, constructing and selling architecturally designed small living spaces.
No other significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.
Short-term and long-term objectives and strategies
The Company’s short and long term objective is to prevent youth homelessness.

Colin Radford

Alison Tait

The Company’s strategies to achieve this objective include:
- constructing purpose built demountable studios for homeless and at risk young people
- providing scholarships for education or job training for young people.

Director
Date: 31 October 2018

Director, Treasurer
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Auditor’s
declaration
KIDS UNDER COVER AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
ABN 76 604 592 013
AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
TO THE DIRECTORS OF KIDS UNDER COVER
In relation to the independent audit for the year ended 30 June 2018, to the best of my knowledge and
belief there have been no contraventions of APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

This declaration is in respect of Kids Under Cover and the entities it controlled during the year.

M J HARRISON

PITCHER PARTNERS

Partner

MELBOURNE

Date:

‐5‐
An independent Victorian Partnership ABN 27 975 255 196
Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Docklands VIC 3008
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms
Melbourne | Sydney | Perth | Adelaide | Brisbane | Newcastle
An independent member of Baker Tilly International

name

qualifications and experience

special responsibilities

Andy Coleman
[Resigned 16 November 2017]

Operations & Supply Chain Director at Coles Supermarkets Australia.
Andy is a Chartered Management Accountant and holds an Economics
Degree from Nottingham.

Colin Radford

Chief Executive Officer at Victorian Managed Insurance Authority. Colin
is a public sector specialist with more than 25 years working in and with
government. Colin is currently a Director of the TAC and the Chair of
Defence Reserves Support Council (Victoria).

Board Chair

Sarah Davies

Chief Executive Officer of Philanthropy Australia and Board Member of
the Centre for Social Impact. Sarah has an extensive background in the
tertiary education sector.

Remuneration Committee Chair

Nathaniel Popelianski

Partner at Corrs Chambers Westgarth, Nathaniel specialises in property
law, has a Bachelor of Commerce, a Bachelor of Laws, has been in
practice since 1997 and is national practice group leader of the Property
& Infrastructure Practice.

Vice Chair

Alison Tait

Partner at PwC. Alison holds a Bachelor of Commerce, is a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants and has over 15 years’ experience
working with ASX listed companies and large multinationals.

Finance, Audit and Risk
Committee Chair

Deborah Tsorbaris

Chief Executive Officer at Centre for Excellence in Child and Family
Welfare. In her previous roles, Deborah had worked as Director at
Department of Health & Human Service and Chief Executive Officer
at Council to Homeless Persons.

George Liacos
[Appointed 20 June 2018]

Managing Director at Spark Strategy, George is a strategic advisor to
the social sector, corporates and Government. An entrepreneur with
strong start up and digital background, he holds a MBA from Melbourne
University, BEc from Sydney University and GAICD from the AICD.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
note

2018
$

2017
$

2,129,019

2,695,370

5,385,286

4,452,323

57,664

447,809

142,698

151,010

Revenue and other income
Government funding
Fundraising
Donations and gifts
Bequests
Other
Other income
Sundry income

93,228

86,603

119,608

110,582

61,479

142,998

7,988,982

8,086,695

(119,485)

-

(1,329,621)

(1,131,327)

(822,862)

(932,774)

(381,468)

(488,133)

Studio program costs

(4,503,137)

(4,313,825)

Management and administration costs

(1,100,526)

(1,023,468)

(8,257,099)

(7,889,527)

(268,117)

197,168

33,389

10,292

Investment income
Net gain on disposal of non‑current assets
2
Less: expenses
Social Enterprise
Marketing and fundraising costs
General marketing and fundraising
Donate Your Car®
Scholarship program costs

Surplus / (deficit)
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Unrealised gain on restatement of financial assets to fair value

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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33,389

10,292

(234,728)

207,460

note

2018
$

2017
$

5,067,378

7,541,792

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

4

Receivables

5

403,407

463,392

Other financial assets

6

2,489,169

388,100

Other assets

7

339,665

161,084

8,299,619

8,554,368

Total current assets

financial report

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

Non‑current assets
Intangible assets

8

32,755

-

Property, plant and equipment

9

6,554,369

7,518,107

6,587,124

7,518,107

14,886,743

16,072,475

672,909

1,320,677

Total non‑current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Payables

10

Provisions

11

270,220

361,702

Other liabilities

12

242,720

462,049

1,185,849

2,144,428

82,344

74,769

82,344

74,769

1,268,193

2,219,197

13,524,371

13,853,278

Total current liabilities
Non‑current liabilities
Provisions

11

Total non‑current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity

2,957,136

2,190,030

Retained earnings

Reserves

10,661,414

11,663,248

Total equity

13,618,550

13,853,278

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
contributed equity $

reserves $

general funds $

total equity $

Balance as at 1 July 2016

-

1,526,053

12,150,387

13,626,440

Deficit for the year

-

-

197,168

197,168

Unrealised gain on restatement of financial assets to fair value

-

10,292

-

10,292

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

10,292

197,168

207,460

Transfers

-

653,685

(684,307)

30,622

Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

-

-

-

-

Balance as at 1 July 2017

-

2,190,030

11,663,248

13,853,278

Deficit for the year

-

-

(268,117)

(268,117)

Unrealised gain on restatement of financial assets to fair value

-

33,389

-

33,389

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

33,389

(268,117)

(234,728)

Transfers

-

733,717

(733,717)

-

Balance as at 30 June 2018

-

2,957,136

10,661,414

13,618,550

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
2018 $

2017 $

7,682,872

8,132,353

(5,870,641)

(4,512,477)

Interest received

119,608

110,582

Scholarships paid

(53,437)

(382,191)

1,878,402

3,348,267

566,805

277,794

Payment for property, plant and equipment

(2,819,186)

(2,670,888)

Payment for investments

(2,067,680)

-

(32,755)

-

(4,352,816)

(2,393,094)

Cash at beginning of the financial year

7,541,792

6,586,619

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held

(2,474,414)

955,173

5,067,378

7,541,792

Note
Cash flow from operating activities
Grants and donations received
Payments to suppliers and employees

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

Payment for intangible assets
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities
Reconciliation of cash
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Cash at end of financial year

The accompanying
notes form part of these
financial statements.

(d) Contributions – Government Grants and Donations

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A non reciprocal contribution or grant is recognised when the entity obtains control of the
contribution or grant and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity,
and the amount of the contribution or grant can be measured reliably.

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in
accordance with the Australian Charities and Not for profits Commission Act 2012 and
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements, Interpretations
and other applicable authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board.
The financial report covers Kids Under Cover and its consolidated entity. Kids Under Cover
is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Kids Under
Cover is a not for profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.
The financial report was approved by the directors as at the date of the directors’ report.
The following are the significant accounting policies adopted by the group in the
preparation and presentation of the financial report. The accounting policies have
been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.
(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report
Historical Cost Convention
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical
costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non
current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. Cost is based on the fair values
of the consideration given in exchange for assets.
(b) Income tax
No provision for income tax has been raised as the group is exempt from income tax
under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

If conditions attached to the contribution or grant that must be satisfied before the entity
is eligible to receive the contribution, recognition of contribution or income is deferred
until those conditions are met.
A non reciprocal donation is recognised when the right to receive a donation has
been established.
When the entity receives grants but is obliged to give directly approximately equal
value to the contributor, recognition of grant income will be deferred until the delivery
of service.
(e) Financial instruments
Classification
The group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity investments, and
available for sale financial assets. The classification depends on the nature of the item
and the purpose for which the instruments are held.
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to
the date that the entity commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade
date accounting is adopted).

Investment income

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs,
except where the instrument is classified as fair value through profit or loss, in which
case transaction costs are immediately recognised as expenses in profit or loss.

Investment income comprises of interest revenue and is recognised when it accrues.

Fair value through profit or loss

In kind donations

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are held for
trading for the purpose of short term profit taking, are derivatives not held for hedging
purposes, or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to
enable fair value performance evaluation by key management personnel. Investments
in listed securities are carried at fair value through profit or loss. They are measured at
their fair value at each reporting date and any increment or decrement in fair value from
the prior period is recognised in profit or loss of the current period. Fair value of listed
investments are based on closing bid prices at the reporting date.

(c) Revenue

Goods and services donated to the company are included at fair value to the company
where this can be quantified. No amounts are included in the financial statements for
services donated by volunteers. Goods donated for resale, raffle and auction are included
as income when they are sold.
Asset sales
The gain or loss on disposal of all non current assets is determined as the difference between
the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net proceeds on disposals.
All revenue is measured net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
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NOTES TO and forming part of the financial statements

Donated financial assets
Financial assets donated to the group are recognised at fair value at the date the group
obtains the control of the assets.
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(f) Property, plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less,
where applicable, any accumulated depreciation.
Any property, plant or equipment donated to the company or acquired for nominal
cost is recognised at fair value at the date the company obtains control of the assets.

amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use, to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its
recoverable amount is expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Replacement costs are used to determine value in use.
(h) Employee benefits

Houses

(i) Short term employee benefit obligations

Houses are carried at deemed cost less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation.

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting period are measured at the (undiscounted)
amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is
settled. The expected cost of short term employee benefits in the form of compensated
absences such as annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
All other short term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The land on which the houses are situated is utilised under a long term lease from
the government and is not owned by the company.
Houses where the asset value is expected to be realised within the next 12 months,
are considered assets
held for sale, and have been reclassified as such. Other houses remain classified
as property, plant and equipment.
Studios
Studios are carried at deemed cost less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.
All studios currently held, irrespective of funding source, are the property of the company.
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment (other than land) are depreciated over their
useful lives to the company commencing from when the asset is held ready for use.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line and diminishing value basis over the
expected economic lives as follows:
Class of fixed asset	Depreciation rates	Depreciation basis
Houses at cost
5%
Straight line
25%
Straight line
Studios at cost
Straight line
Leasehold improvements at cost 33%
25%
Diminishing value
Motor vehicles at cost
Office equipment at cost
5% 40%
Diminishing value
Display Stock			
(g) Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the company assesses whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired. The assessment will include considering
external sources of information and internal sources of information. If such an indication
exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable
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(ii) Long term employee benefit obligations
The provision for other long term employee benefits, including obligations for
long service leave and annual leave, which are not expected to be settled wholly
before twelve months after the end of the reporting period, are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of the
services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Expected future payments
incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and
employee turnover, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market
yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation. For currencies in
which there is no deep market in such high quality corporate bonds, the market
yields (at the end of the reporting period) on government bonds denominated in
that currency are used. Any remeasurements for changes in assumptions of
obligations for other long term employee benefits are recognised in profit or
loss in the periods in which the change occurs.
Other long term employee benefit obligations are presented as current liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position if the entity does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting
date, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. All other long
term employee benefit obligations are presented as non current liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
(i) Leases
Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based
on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits
incidental to ownership.

(j) Goods and services tax (GST)

Cash flows are presented in the consolidated statement
of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities, which
are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(l) Economic dependency

2017
$

2,129,019

2,695,370

5,385,286

4,452,323

57,664

447,809

142,698

151,010

5,585,648

5,051,142

NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
Grant funding:
Government funding
Fundraising:
Donations and gifts
Bequest
Other

(k) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information has been
reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current
year disclosures.

2018
$
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Revenues, expenses and purchased assets are
recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax
Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of
an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the
consolidated statement of financial position are shown
inclusive of GST.
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Other income
Sundry Income

93,228

86,603

119,608

110,582

61,479

142,998

274,315

340,183

274,315

340,183

7,988,982

8,086,695

3,277,598

3,145,499

1,540

1,540

‑ motor vehicles

14,838

15,888

‑ office furniture and equipment

13,249

13,004

3,307,225

3,175,931

1,773,149

1,634,943

343,186

408,977

Investment income
Net gain on disposal of non‑current assets

The company is dependent upon the ongoing receipt of
grants and donations to ensure the continuance of its
studio and scholarship programs.
NOTE 3: OPERATING SURPLUS
Surplus / (deficit) has been determined after:
Depreciation
‑ houses & studios
‑ leasehold improvements

Employee benefits
Net loss on disposal of non‑current assets
‑ Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (continued)
2018
$

2017
$

Cash on hand

316

158

Cash at bank

5,067,062

7,541,634

5,067,378

7,541,792

117,170

332,162

Accrued income

144,000

108,916

GST receivable

136,757

22,314

5,480

-

286,237

131,230

403,407

463,392

2,489,169

388,100

48,139

36,325

291,526

124,759

339,665

161,084

32,755

-

NOTE 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOTE 5: RECEIVABLES
CURRENT
Trade debtors
Other receivables

Other debtors

NOTE 6: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
CURRENT
Available‑for‑sale financial assets
Shares in listed corporations
NOTE 7: OTHER ASSETS
CURRENT
Prepayments
Assets held for sale
NOTE 8: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Website at cost
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2018
$

2017
$

NOTE 9: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Houses
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

251,675

251,675

(163,590)

(151,006)

88,085

100,669

19,845,661

18,080,720

(13,649,448)

(10,766,386)

6,196,213

7,314,334

4,620

4,620

(4,376)

(2,836)

244

1,784

6,284,542

7,416,787

Studios
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (continued)

Leasehold improvements
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total land and buildings
Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles at cost

67,489

96,713

(24,820)

(27,526)

42,669

69,187

Office equipment at cost

136,365

68,869

Accumulated depreciation

(48,579)

(36,736)

87,786

32,133

-

-

Display Stock

139,372

-

Total plant and equipment

269,827

101,320

6,554,369

7,518,107

Accumulated depreciation

Total property, plant and equipment
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (continued)
2018
$

2017
$

NOTE 9: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

NOTE 9: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(a) Reconciliations

(a) Reconciliations (continued)

Houses

Other capital assets

Opening carrying amount
Disposals
Depreciation expense
Reclassified as held for sale
Closing carrying amount

100,669

424,231

-

(137,031)

(12,584)

(61,772)

-

(124,759)

88,085

100,669

Studios

Opening carrying amount

-

-

139,372

-

Closing carrying amount

139,372

-

611,639

1,072,691

61,270

247,986

672,909

1,320,677

NOTE 10: PAYABLES
CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities

7,314,334

7,669,717

Trade creditors

Additions

2,610,045

3,048,289

Sundry creditors and accruals

Disposals

(450,568)

(461,549)

(3,277,598)

(3,083,727)

-

141,604

6,196,213

7,314,334

Reversal of relocation provision
Closing carrying amount

Depreciation expense
Closing carrying amount

1,784

3,324

(1,540)

(1,540)

244

1,784

Additions

Employee benefits

42,669

69,187

361,702
8,769

82,344

74,769

164,964

131,157

242,720

462,049

2,284,589

1,497,435

Scholarship program reserve

418,872

472,309

Scholarship endowment reserve

209,994

209,994

43,681

10,292

2,957,136

2,190,030

NOTE 12: OTHER LIABILITIES

(4,502)

270,220

66,000

(a) Aggregate employee benefits liability

(15,888)

122,388
239,314

16,144

67,489

(11,680)

148,820
121,400

66,200

(14,838)

(a)

CURRENT
Grants received in advance
NOTE 13: RESERVES

Office equipment
Opening carrying amount

32,133

38,641

Additions

69,769

6,496

Disposals

(867)

-

Closing carrying amount

(a)

NON CURRENT

22,088

Disposals

Depreciation expense

Employee benefits

69,187

Depreciation expense
Closing carrying amount

CURRENT

Scholarships

Motor vehicles
Opening carrying amount

NOTE 11: PROVISIONS

Scholarships

Leasehold improvements
Opening carrying amount

2017
$

Additions

Opening carrying amount

Depreciation expense
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2018
$

(13,249)

(13,004)

87,786

32,133

Studio program reserve

Fair value reserve

NOTE 13: RESERVES (CONTINUED)
Studio program reserve:
The studio program reserve has been established to record funds raised by donation
to the company for use in its studio program.

2018
$

2017
$

NOTE 16: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating lease commitments

The scholarship program reserve has been established to record funds raised by
donation to the company for use in its scholarship program.

The Company has entered into a commercial
lease for the head office premises. Future
minimum rentals payable under non‑cancellable
operating leases as at the reporting date:

Scholarship endowment reserve:

Payable

The scholarship endowment reserve was established from funds received from the
Estate of Cecelia Murnane. These funds are held in perpetuity with 80% of the income
relating to these funds being used to pay scholarships and the balance retained to
increase the fund.

‑ not later than one year

180,569

153,457

‑ later than one year and not later than five years

381,706

12,819

562,275

166,276

Scholarship program reserve:

financial report

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (continued)

Fair value reserve:
The fair value reserve represents unrealised increments in the market value of the share
portfolio received through the Bequest of Kathleen Allen.
2018
$

2017
$

NOTE 14: KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Compensation received by key management
personnel of the group
‑ short‑term employee benefits
‑ post‑employment benefits

NOTE 17: MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE
The parent entity is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited
by guarantee. If the company is wound up, the Constitution states that each member is
required to contribute to a maximum of $1 each towards meeting any outstandings and
obligations of the company. At 30 June 2018 the number of members was 6. The combined
total amount that members of the company are liable to contribute if the company is wound
up is $6.
NOTE 18: COMPANY DETAILS

508,616

540,638

46,410

50,742

555,026

591,380

The registered office of the group is:
Kids Under Cover
383 Swan Street,
RICHMOND VIC 3121

NOTE 15: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Directors
Directors of the Company in office during the year are disclosed in the directors’ report
that accompanies these financial statements.
(b) Directors’ compensation
The directors act in an honorary capacity and receive no compensation for their services.
(c) Transactions with director related entities
There were no transactions with directors or director related entities during the financial
year and no amounts payable or receivable from directors or director related entities at
the reporting date.
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Directors’
declaration
KIDS UNDER COVER AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
ABN 76 604 592 013
DIRECTORS' DECLARATION
The directors declare that:
1.

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the registered entity is able to pay all of its debts, as and
when they become due and payable; and

2.

the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not‐for‐
profits Commission Act 2012.

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profit Commission
Regulation 2013.

Director:

Director:
Colin Radford

Dated this
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31

Alison Tait

day of

October

‐ 22 ‐

2018

KIDS UNDER COVER AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
ABN 76 604 592 013

KIDS UNDER COVER AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
ABN 76 604 592 013

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF KIDS UNDER COVER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF KIDS UNDER COVER

financial report

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of Kids Under Cover

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (Continued)

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance
with the financial reporting requirements of the applicable legislation and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.



Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going
concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of this financial report.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

M J HARRISON
Partner

MELBOURNE

Date

‐ 24 ‐
An independent Victorian Partnership ABN 27 975 255 196
Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Docklands VIC 3008
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

PITCHER PARTNERS

‐ 25 ‐
Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms
Melbourne | Sydney | Perth | Adelaide | Brisbane | Newcastle
An independent member of Baker Tilly International

An independent Victorian Partnership ABN 27 975 255 196
Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Docklands VIC 3008
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms
Melbourne | Sydney | Perth | Adelaide | Brisbane | Newcastle
An independent member of Baker Tilly International
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thank you
During 2017/18 our vision of a community where no
young person is homeless was shared by so many.
On behalf of the young people and families we support, the
team at Kids Under Cover sincerely thank all of our patrons,
ambassadors, funders and donors. Thank you to all of our
individual, community, philanthropic, corporate and government
supporters, the generous organisations who provided Pro-bono
services, our building crews, and every volunteer who gave their
valuable time and skills to enable us to do what we do.

Founding Patron
• Ken Morgan OAM

Patrons

•
•
•
•
•

Herb Elliot AC MBE
Tommy Emmanuel AM
Athol Guy AO
Incolink
Master Builders
Association of Victoria
• Ian ‘Molly’ Meldrum AM
• The Honourable Martin
Moynihan AO QC
• Daryl Somers OAM

Life Ambassadors

•
•
•
•

Brian Chenu
George Ermer
Trevor Fasham
David Lee

Foundation Partner
• Harris HMC

Platinum Partners
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• BB & A Miller Foundation
• Brian and Virginia
McNamee Foundation
• CARI Foundation
• Gandel Philanthropy
• The Grove Group
• Incolink
• Marian & E.H. Flack Trust

•
•
•
•
•

Portland House Foundation
Reinehr Family Foundation
The Shine On Foundation
Victorian State Government
William Buckland Foundation

Gold Partners

• Choice Hotels Asia-Pac
• Eric and Elizabeth Gross
Foundation
• Eva and Les Erdi
Humanitarian Charitable
Foundation
• Gravel Road Foundation
• Grenet Foundation
• Joe White Bequest
• Nous Group
• Porter Davis
• Pitcher Partners
• Zinfra

Silver Partners

• A1 Office
• Barr Family Foundation
• Brian M Davis Charitable
Foundation
• Campbell Edwards Trust
• Coca-Cola Australia
Foundation
• Collier Charitable Fund
• Dulux Australia
• Jack and Ethel Goldin
Foundation

• Jack Brockhoff Foundation
• Matana Foundation for
Young People
• Millett Family Foundation
• Ortech Industries
• Percy Baxter Charitable Trust
• Pierce Armstrong
Foundation
• Rondo Building Services
Pty Ltd
• Samuel Nissen Charitable
Foundation
• South East Water
• The Armour Endowment
• Vernon Foundation
• Vicki Standish Family
Foundation

Bronze Partners
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Besen Family Foundation
BP Australia
BuildSafe Building Insurances
Cassandra Gantner
Foundation
Commonwealth Bank
Abbotsford & Richmond
South
DBM Consultants
Dimmick Charitable Trust
Flora & Frank Leith
Charitable Trust
Freemasons Public
Charitable Foundation
Goodridge Foundation
Hecand Family Foundation
IOOF Foundation Limited
Jenkins Family Foundation
Juliette Ward, Roger Taylor
& Nick Taylor
Kingfisher Charitable Trust
Lord Mayor’s Charitable
Foundation – Youth in
Philanthropy
Macutex
Morris Family Trust
Newsboys Foundation
Norman, Mavis & Graeme
Waters Perpetual
Charitable Trust

• Probuild Constructions
Pty Ltd
• Suitters Foundation
• The Corbett Family
• Turosi Trust

Supporting Partners
• Angela Ciliberto
• AngryChair
• Australian Healthcare
Associates
• BTC Markets Pty Ltd
• Building Inspections Australia
• BVN Architecture
• Capture Point Media
• CHE Proximity
• Click4Trades
• Conscious Creative
• Corrs Chambers Westgarth
• Datt Family Foundation
• Detector Inspector
• Devine Limited QLD
• Devine Limited SA
• Dina Grollo Community Fund
• Direct Response Media
• Education Services
Australia Ltd
• EraseIT
• EstimateOne Pty Ltd
• First National Lazaridis & Yap
• Flew Foundation
• Geelong Community
Foundation
• Golden Messenger
• Goodman Foundation
• Grin Creative
• Inner North Community
Foundation
• Jack and Hedy Brent
Foundation
• James Kennedy
• Link 21 Foundation
• Macpherson Kelley
Foundation
• Man Inc
• Megagraphics Photography
• Melissa Ryan Princess Fund
• Myers Planning Group

• National Australia Bank
• One Mile Grid
• Online Permit Solutions
Pty Ltd
• Paulusz Family Foundation
• Rae and Peter Gunn Family
Foundation
• Readings Foundation
• Resource Architecture
• Riis Strategic Consulting
• Robson Giving Circle
• Salesforce.org
• Sensum
• Shulu Foundation
• Simonds Group
• Springvale Homemaker
Centre
• Susan Harris Foundation
• TAL Community Foundation
• The District Docklands
• The Master Painters
Association of Vic Ltd
• Uberbrand
• Villawood
• Westprecinct Holdings Pty Ltd
• William Angliss (Vic)
Charitable Fund
• Wood Family Foundation
• Wright Approach Marketing

Donate Your Car®
Partners

• Australasian Fleet
Management Association
• Banyule City Council
• Hume City Council
• Manheim
• Moreland City Council
• Kmart Tyre & Auto Service

Cubby House
Challenge® Partners
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

APM Group
Bayley Ward
Becon Constructions
Beirin Projects
Bellemo & Cat
Buildher Collective
Capture Point Media

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Choice Hotels Asia-Pac
Dulux Australia
Figurehead Construction
Harris HMC
iSell Group
Jam3d
Jellis Craig
Manheim
Master Builder Association
of Victoria
McKern Steel
Melbourne International
Flower & Garden Show
Nelson Alexander
NH Architecture
No Fuss Event Hire
Ortech Industries
Pitchcraft
Porter Davis
Rondo Building Services
Pty Ltd
RT Edgar
Springvale Homemaker
Centre
The District Docklands
Turosi Trust
Warners Nurseries
Watson Young
Woodards
World of Style by
Porter Davis
Zinfra

Nestd
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

ARKit
Corrs Chambers Westgarth
Grimshaw Architects
Jam3d
Maddison Architects
NH Architecture
Ortech Industries
Pitcher Partners
Ravida Homes
Sensum
Vaughan Construction
World of Style by
Porter Davis

HELP US MAKE A LASTING DIFFERENCE
There are a variety of ways to be involved
in the work we do at Kids Under Cover.
Without the support of like-minded
people, we could not continue to pursue
our vision of a community where no
young person is homeless.

Fundraise for us
There are many opportunities to
fundraise for us throughout the
year, from taking part in a fun
run to holding your own event.
email: fundraise@kuc.com.au

Regular
giving
Much like workplace giving,
regular giving is a commitment
to donate on a regular basis.
Call us to find out more.

Make a donation

Workplace giving

Leave a gift in your Will

Every donation, large and small,
makes a difference. You can
donate easily online at kuc.org.
au OR call us 1800 801 633.

A regular, pre-tax donation
straight from your pay is easy
to setup and you receive
tax benefits.

Choosing to leave a bequest is
a lasting and generous legacy,
which will benefit young people
beyond your lifetime.

Donate your car®

CORPORATE
BUILD PROGRAM

Volunteering
opportunities

Build your team while building a
brighter future for young people.
For partners who fund a studio,
Kids Under Cover can provide a
unique team building experience
for staff and other volunteers.

Volunteers are the backbone of
many things we do throughout
the year. Often we have
opportunities to become
involved as a volunteer at our
events, in the office and at other
community fundraising events.
email: volunteer@kuc.com.au

Our Donate Your Car® program
is free, tax-deductible, and a fast
alternative to selling or trading
your vehicle.
donateyourcar.org.au

Find out more about our work and ways to get involved by visiting;
kuc.org.au | donateyourcar.org.au | boardforacause.org.au | nestdhomes.com.au
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@KidsUnderCover
kidsundercover
@KidsUnderCover
Kids Under Cover

Phone (03) 9429 7444
Freecall 1800 801 633
kuc@kuc.org.au
kuc.org.au
PO Box 5141
Burnley VIC 3121

